# GAFFNEY-FRIEDRICHS INEQUALITY FOR DIFFERENTIAL FORMS ON HEISENBERG GROUPS

# B. FRANCHI, F. MONTEFALCONE & E. SERRA

ABSTRACT. In this paper, we will prove several generalized versions, dependent on different boundary conditions, of the classical Gaffney-Friedrichs inequality for differential forms on Heisenberg groups. In the first part of the paper, we will consider horizontal differential forms and the horizontal differential. In the second part, we shall prove the counterpart of these results in the context of Rumin's complex.

## Contents

1. Introduction	2
2. Preliminaries on horizontal forms	2 8 8
2.1. Heisenberg groups and horizontal forms	8
2.2. Decomposition of forms on the boundary of a domain I	12
2.3. Perimeter measure in Heisenberg groups	13
3. Boundary terms and the trace map	13
3.1. Trace theorems in Heisenberg groups	13
4. Kähler geometry $\mathbb{H}^n$	19
4.1. Basic notions of Kähler geometry in $\mathbb{H}^n$	19
4.2. Kähler geometry of domains in $\mathbb{H}^n$	22
5. Boundary conditions and estimates of the boundary terms	22
5.1. Horizontal Dirichlet integral	22
5.2. Estimate of the term $\mathbf{A}$ in (17)	24
5.3. Estimate of the term $\mathbf{B}$ in (17)	28
6. Gaffney-Friedrichs-type inequalities for horizontal forms	31
7. Further Gaffney-Friedrichs inequalities	
for horizontal forms	36
8. Rumin's complex in Heisenberg groups	38
8.1. Rumin's complex	38
8.2. Decomposition of forms on the boundary of a domain II	42
8.3. Gaffney-Friedrichs-type inequalities: technical preliminaries	43
8.4. Gaffney-Friedrichs-type inequalities: the main results	45
References	46

 $<sup>2010\</sup> Mathematics\ Subject\ Classification.\ 49Q15,\ 46E35,\ 22E60.$ 

 $<sup>\</sup>it Key\ words\ and\ phrases.$  Heisenberg groups; horizontal forms, Rumin's complex; Gaffney-Friedrichs inequalities.

B.F. is supported by University of Bologna, Italy, funds for selected research topics, by GNAMPA of INdAM and by MAnET Marie Curie Initial Training Network.

F.M. has been partially supported by the Fondazione CaRiPaRo Project "Nonlinear Partial Differential Equations: models, analysis, and control-theoretic problems" and by the  $\rm ex-60\%$  funds of the University of Padova.

#### 1. Introduction

Let  $M^n$  be a smooth compact manifold of dimension n with boundary  $\partial M^n$ . If u is a differential form of degree h on  $M^n$ ,  $0 \le h \le n$ , we set

$$u_{t} := \nu \, \bot (\nu \wedge u), \qquad u_{\nu} := \nu \, \bot \, u,$$

where  $\nu$  denotes the (Riemannian) outward unit normal vector along  $\partial \mathcal{U}$ . Thus, one gets the orthogonal decomposition formula

$$u = u_{\rm t} + \nu \wedge u_{\nu}$$
.

Denote now by  $W^{1,2}(M^n, \bigwedge^h TM^n)$  the Sobolev space of differential forms on  $M^n$  of degree h. The classical Friedrichs-Gaffney inequality (see [28], [29], [38], [45]) states that there exists a geometric constant C > 0 such that

(1) 
$$\|u\|_{W^{1,2}(M^n,\bigwedge^h TM^n)} \le C \Big( \|du\|_{L^2(M^n,\bigwedge^{h+1} TM^n)} + \|\delta u\|_{L^2(M^n,\bigwedge^{h-1} TM^n)} + \|u\|_{L^2(M^n,\bigwedge^h TM^n)} \Big)$$

for every differential h-form  $u \in W^{1,2}(M^n, \bigwedge^h TM^n)$  with vanishing either the tangential component  $u_t$  or the normal component  $u_{\nu}$  on  $\partial M^n$ . Here d and  $\delta$  denote, respectively, the differential and the codifferential of the de Rham complex in  $M^n$ .

If  $\vec{F}$  is a vector field in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ , then (1) reduces to the inequality

$$\|\nabla \vec{F}\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n})^{n^{2}}} \leq C\Big(\|\operatorname{div}\vec{F}\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} + \|\operatorname{curl}\vec{F}\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n})^{n}} + \|\vec{F}\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n})^{n}}\Big),$$

under suitable boundary conditions on  $\vec{F}$  such as the ones above.

Roughly speaking, the conditions  $u_t = 0$  or  $u_{\nu} = 0$  on  $\partial M^n$  imply the vanishing of some geometric quantities living on the boundary; see, [15], [45]. Incidentally, we remark that these conditions can be replaced by more complicated conditions, which can be written as linear combinations of the previous ones; for more details, we refer to Section 5.3.2 of [15].

Several generalizations of (1) can be found in the literature. We mention among others the Gaffney-Friedrichs inequality for Lipschitz domains proved in [36] and, above all, from our point of view, the recent papers by Tseng and Yau [46, 47] (see also [48]) for generalizations of the Gaffney-Friedrichs inequality (associated with symplectic Laplacians) in compact symplectic manifolds (thus of even dimension) with smooth boundaries of contact type.

The aim of the present paper is to prove a Gaffney-Friedrichs inequality for differential forms in Heisenberg groups.

By Darboux' theorem, Heisenberg groups are the prototype of contact manifolds (necessarily of odd dimension). Therefore our result can be seen, in some sense, as complementary of that in [46, 47].

Heisenberg groups will be presented in more detail in Section 2. Here we just recall that the Heisenberg group  $\mathbb{H}^n$  is the (2n+1)-dimensional Lie group with nilpotent, stratified Lie algebra  $\mathfrak{h}$  of step 2 given by

$$\mathfrak{h} = \operatorname{span} \{X_1, \dots, X_n, Y_1, \dots, Y_n\} \oplus \operatorname{span} \{T\} := \mathfrak{h}_1 \oplus \mathfrak{h}_2,$$

where the only nontrivial commutation rules are  $[X_j, Y_j] = T, j = 1, ..., n$ .

It is well-known that  $\mathbb{H}^n$  can be identified with  $\mathbb{R}^{2n+1}$  through the (Lie group) exponential map. The stratification of the algebra induces a family of nonisotropic dilations in the group, again via the exponential map.

Since the Lie algebra  $\mathfrak{h}$  can be identified with the tangent space to  $\mathbb{H}^n$  at the identity  $e = 0 \in \mathbb{H}^n$ , there is a natural left-invariant Riemannian metric in  $\mathbb{H}^n$  making the basis  $\{X_1, \ldots, X_n, Y_1, \ldots, Y_n, T\}$  orthonormal.

In addition, by left translation of  $\mathfrak{h}_1$  one obtains a tangent subbundle of  $T\mathbb{H}^n$  still denoted by  $\mathfrak{h}_1$ . We refer to  $\mathfrak{h}_1$  as to the *horizontal layer* and to  $X_1, \ldots, X_n, Y_1, \ldots, Y_n$  as to the *horizontal derivatives* of  $\mathbb{H}^n$ . Moreover, we write

$$\nabla_H u := (X_1 u, \dots, X_n u, Y_1 u, \dots, Y_n u)$$

whenever u is any smooth real function on  $\mathbb{H}^n$ .

If  $0 \le h \le 2n$ , the sections of  $\bigwedge_h \mathfrak{h}_1$  are called horizontal h-vectors, while the sections of  $\bigwedge^h \mathfrak{h}_1$  are called horizontal h-covectors.

Throughout this paper we shall denote by  $\Omega_H^h$ ,  $0 \le h \le 2n$ , the space of all horizontal h-forms and by  $\theta$  the 1-form on  $\mathbb{H}^n$  such that  $\ker \theta = \exp(\mathfrak{h}_1)$  and  $\theta(T) = 1$ .

It is to mention that the horizontal differential  $d_H := d - \vartheta \wedge \mathcal{L}_T$  acts between horizontal differential forms in the sense that  $d_H : \Omega_H^h \to \Omega_H^{h+1}$ . Unfortunately,  $(\Omega_H^*, d_H)$  is not a differential complex, since  $d_H^2$  does not vanish, in general, precisely because of the lack of commutativity in  $\mathfrak{h}$ . This difficulty is overcome by introducing the Rumin complex  $(E_0^*, d_c)$ , which is a "natural" complex of differential forms, homotopycal to the de Rham complex. We refer to [40] for the original definition, as well as to [7], [8, 9, 10, 12]. Even if  $d_H^2 \neq 0$ , we shall denote by  $(\Omega_H^*, d_H)$  the family of spaces  $\Omega_H^*$  with arrows  $d_H$ .

Precise definitions of the complex  $(E_0^*, d_c)$  will be made in Section 8.1. Here we discuss some motivations leading to its definition.

First, horizontal forms appear "naturally" from the stratification, thought the construction of Rumin's forms may appear very technical. Thus, let us sketch how  $(E_0^*, d_c)$  is in fact very "natural" in the light of more geometric considerations, starting from the notion of *intrinsic submanifolds* of  $\mathbb{H}^n$  (see [24]) and, above all, of linear submanifold in  $\mathbb{H}^n$ .

In Heisenberg groups, as shown, for instance, in [23], [25], the counterpart of linear manifolds is played by the homogeneous subgroups of  $\mathbb{H}^n$ , i.e., in exponential coordinates, by the homogeneous subalgebras of  $\mathfrak{h}$ .

Indeed, as proved in [19], Rumin's forms are naturally associated with homogeneous subalgebras of  $\mathfrak{h}$ , in the sense that homogeneous subalgebras are more or less the annihilators of simple Rumin's forms, precisely as in Euclidean spaces, linear submanifolds are the annihilators of homogeneous simple covectors. We refer to Section 8.1 and to [19], [12] for further details.

Another non-Euclidean feature arising typically from the geometry of  $\mathbb{H}^n$  we have to deal with is the following. Let  $\mathcal{U} \subsetneq \mathbb{H}^n$  be a smooth, bounded open set. We need to remark that in our paper we are dealing with different "boundary measures" on  $\partial \mathcal{U}$ . First, an intrinsic notion of perimeter measure  $|\partial \mathcal{U}|_{\mathbb{H}^n}$  has been introduced in [30]; we refer the reader to [30, 20, 21, 22] for a detailed presentation. For simplicity, we shall denote the  $\mathbb{H}^n$ -perimeter measure by the symbol  $d\sigma_H$ . However, beside the  $\mathbb{H}^n$ -perimeter measure, we

can actually consider both the 2n-dimensional Euclidean Hausdorff measure  $d\mathcal{H}^{2n}$  and the Riemannian measure  $d\sigma$ , defined in terms of the Riemannian structure in  $\mathbb{H}^n$  induced by the fixed inner product in  $\mathfrak{h}$ . As a matter of fact, our results will fail to be completely analogous to the classical ones ultimately because  $d\sigma$  and  $d\sigma_H$  are not equivalent. This problem will be discussed later in this Introduction.

We can now describe the content of this paper. Our aim is to prove Gaffney-Friedrichs-type inequalities for both the complexes  $(\Omega_H^*, d_H)$  and  $(E_0^*, d_c)$ . If  $\mathcal{U} \subsetneq \mathbb{H}^n$  is a smooth, bounded open set we are looking for estimates of the form

$$||u||_{W_{\mathbb{H}}^{1,2}(\mathcal{U},\bigwedge^{h}\mathfrak{h}_{1})} \leq C\Big(||d_{H}u||_{L^{2}(\mathcal{U},\bigwedge^{h}\mathfrak{h}_{1})} + ||d_{H}^{*}u||_{L^{2}(\mathcal{U},\bigwedge^{h}\mathfrak{h}_{1})} + ||u||_{L^{2}(\mathcal{U},\bigwedge^{h}\mathfrak{h}_{1})}\Big),$$

under suitable boundary conditions.

Here  $W^{1,2}_{\mathbb{H}}(\mathcal{U}, \bigwedge^h \mathfrak{h}_1)$  denotes the space of horizontal differential forms such that all their coefficients with respect to some fixed basis belong to  $W^{1,2}_{\mathbb{H}}(\mathcal{U})$ (that is, they belong to  $L^2(\mathcal{U})$  together with all their horizontal derivatives).

Analogously, when dealing with forms of Rumin's complex, we are looking for estimates of the form

$$(2) \|u\|_{W^{1,2}_{\mathbb{H}}(\mathcal{U},E^h_0)} \le C\Big(\|d_c u\|_{L^2(\mathcal{U},E^{h+1}_0)} + \|\delta_c u\|_{L^2(\mathcal{U},E^{h-1}_0)} + \|u\|_{L^2(\mathcal{U},E^h_0)}\Big),$$

under suitable boundary conditions. If  $\Xi_0^h = \{\xi_i^h : 1 \leq i \leq \dim E_0^h\}$  is an orthonormal basis of  $E_0^h$ , we denote by  $W_{\mathbb{H}}^{1,2}(\mathcal{U}, E_0^h)$  the space of differential forms  $u = \sum_j u_j \xi_j^h \in L^2(\mathcal{U}, E_0^h)$ such that

$$\|\nabla_H u\|^2 := \sum_{i,j} (|X_i u_j|^2 + |Y_i u_j|^2) \in L^1(\mathcal{U}),$$

endowed with its natural norm. In this case we restrict ourselves to degree  $h \neq n, n+1$ , in order to deal only with both the intrinsic differential  $d_c$ and codifferential  $\delta_c$  of order 1. The remaining cases will be considered in a future paper. If  $\mathcal{U} = \mathbb{H}^n$ , inequality (2) is well known (see, e.g., [40]).

We can now state our main results, which correspond to the choice of different boundary conditions. Our approach is largely inspired by that of Csató, Dacorogna and Kneuss in [15]. In fact, several delicate algebraic manipulations we carry out in the present paper are the counterpart in our setting of those presented in [15].

Denoting by  $n_H$  the horizontal normal to  $\partial \mathcal{U}$ , defined as the orthogonal projection onto  $\bigwedge_1 \mathfrak{h}_1$  of the Riemannian outward unit normal n along  $\partial \mathcal{U}$ , we can define a horizontal unit normal vector to  $\partial \mathcal{U}$  by setting  $\nu_H := \frac{\mathbf{n}_H}{\|\mathbf{n}_H\|}$ at each point  $p \in \partial \mathcal{U}$  where  $n_H(p) \neq 0$ . These points are the so-called "noncharacteristic points" of  $\partial \mathcal{U}$  and we write char  $(\partial \mathcal{U})$  to indicate the set of all characteristic points of the boundary, i.e., the set of points  $p \in \partial \mathcal{U}$  where  $n_H(p) = 0$ . We recall that if  $\partial \mathcal{U}$  is of class  $\mathbb{C}^2$ , then char  $(\partial \mathcal{U})$  is "small" (see, for more details, Remark 2.11 below). It is not surprising that the presence of the characteristic set char  $(\partial \mathcal{U})$  is at the origin of most of the "pathologies", at least from the Riemannian point view, we are facing in the context of Heisenberg groups. Unfortunately, in general char  $(\partial \mathcal{U}) \neq \emptyset$ ; for instance, always the characteristic set fails to be empty when the topology

of  $\mathcal{U}$  is trivial. Setting now

$$u_{\mathbf{t}} := \nu_H \, \bot (\nu_H \wedge u), \qquad u_{\nu_H} := \nu_H \, \bot \, u,$$

we obtain the decomposition formula

$$u = u_{\rm t} + \nu_H \wedge u_{\nu_H}$$
.

As a first thing, we need a counterpart of the condition "either  $u_n = 0$  or  $u_t = 0$ " of the Riemannian case. When dealing with horizontal forms, it becomes "either  $u_{\nu_H} = 0$  or  $u_t = 0$ ", which will be called "condition (DN)" later on. This boundary condition represents the natural generalization to the horizontal geometry of  $\partial \mathcal{U}$  of the classical Dirichlet-Neumann boundary conditions. On the other hand, when dealing with the Rumin complex, if J represents the linear operator known as almost complex structure of  $\mathbb{H}^n$  (see Section 4), then it is possible to show that the condition " $(Ju)_t = 0$ " implies that " $u_{\nu_H} = 0$ ". Thus the condition "either  $u_n = 0$  or  $u_t = 0$ " becomes "either  $(Ju)_t = 0$  or  $u_t = 0$ ".

Nevertheless, it is worth observing that these conditions are not sufficient in order to prove our main results. In fact, we will need to introduce further boundary conditions, obtaining three different statements.

In Propositions 5.14 and 5.17 we introduce conditions  $(J\nu_H)$  and  $(J\nu_H)$ . With these preliminaries in hand, our first formulation of the Gaffney-Friedrichs inequality for horizontal forms, which is stated in Theorem 6.1, reads basically as follows.

**Theorem 1.1.** Let  $\mathcal{U} \subsetneq \mathbb{H}^n$  be a domain (i.e., bounded, connected open set) with boundary of class  $\mathbb{C}^2$ . If  $\Omega_H^*(\overline{\mathcal{U}}) \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{C}$  denotes the complexification of  $\Omega_H^*(\overline{\mathcal{U}})$ , let  $u \in \Omega_H^h(\overline{\mathcal{U}}) \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{C}$  be a horizontal h-form, with  $1 \leq h < n$ , and assume that:

- (i) u satisfies condition (DN) (see Proposition 5.11);
- (ii) u satisfies either condition  $(J\nu_H)$  (see Proposition 5.14) or condition  $(\widetilde{J}\nu_H)$  (see Proposition 5.17).

Let V be an open neighborhood of char( $\partial U$ ) (in the relative topology). Then, there exist geometric constants  $C_0, C_1$  and  $C_2$  such that

(3) 
$$D_{H}(u) + C_{0} \int_{\partial \mathcal{U} \cap \mathcal{V}} \|u\|^{2} d\sigma$$
$$\geq C_{1} \int_{\mathcal{U}} \|\nabla_{H} u\|^{2} dV - C_{2} \int_{\mathcal{U}} \|u\|^{2} dV,$$

where

$$D_H(u) = \|d_H u\|_{L^2(\mathcal{U},\Omega_H^{h+1})}^2 + \|d_H^* u\|_{L^2(\mathcal{U},\Omega_H^{h-1})}^2.$$

The constants  $C_0, C_1, C_2$  only depend on  $\mathcal{U}, \mathcal{V}$ , and on the integers h and n. Furthermore, if  $u \in \Omega_H^h(\overline{\mathcal{U}}) \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{C}$  is a horizontal h-form with  $n+1 < h \leq 2n$ , then (3) still holds provided that  $*_H u$  satisfies (i) and (ii); see Remark 8.14. For the case h = n, n+1 we refer the reader to Theorem 6.7 in Section 6.

As a matter of fact, Theorem 1.1 is not completely satisfying because of the presence of the boundary integral on the left-hand side of (3).

Roughly speaking, we had to cut-off a small region around char( $\partial \mathcal{U}$ ), and this requires two comments. First of all, trivially, Theorem 1.1 yields the

precise counterpart of the Riemannian inequality when  $\operatorname{char}(\partial \mathcal{U}) = \emptyset$  (this happens, for instance, when  $\mathcal{U}$  is a thin torus; see, e.g., [14]). However, it is more important, and less trivial, to observe that the boundary integral on left-hand side of inequality (3) cannot be reabsorbed on the right-hand side, as we do classically using Ehrling's inequality. This is due to the presence in the boundary term of the Riemannian measure  $d\sigma$ .

To be more precise, we would like to stress the following points:

- Functions in  $W^{1,2}_{\mathbb{H}}(\mathcal{U})$  admit  $L^2$ -continuous traces on the boundary  $\partial \mathcal{U}$  with respect to both the measure  $d\sigma_H$  (see [16]) and the Riemannian measure  $d\sigma$  on  $\partial \mathcal{U}$  (see [4], [5]). However, in the first case, the trace map is compact under mild assumptions on  $\partial \mathcal{U}$  (e.g., if  $\partial \mathcal{U}$  is assumed sufficiently "flat" at characteristic points) whereas compactness fails to hold, in the second case, near characteristic points. Away from the characteristic set, the second result follows from the first one.
- Both sides of (3) are continuous with respect to the convergence in  $W^{1,2}_{\mathbb{H}}(\mathcal{U}, \bigwedge^* \mathfrak{h}_1)$ . The statement is trivial for the right-hand side, but is quite delicate for the boundary term on the left-hand side, since it relies on the trace theorems of [4], [5].
- Because of the lack of compactness of the trace operator from  $W_{\mathbb{H}}^{1,2}(\mathcal{U})$  to  $L^2(\partial \mathcal{U}, d\sigma)$ , the  $L^2$ -norm of the trace of u in the left-hand side of (3) cannot be controlled with an arbitrary small constant  $\delta > 0$  times the  $L^2$ -norm of  $\nabla_H u$ , and hence cannot be reabsorbed in the right-hand side.

In order to obtain a statement closer to the classical Gaffney-Friedrichs inequality, we have to make a geometric assumption on the characteristic set of the boundary  $\partial \mathcal{U}$  (see "condition (H)" in Definition 3.4). Roughly speaking, condition (H) expresses the fact that characteristic points are isolated and that  $\partial \mathcal{U}$  is sufficiently flat at these points. In fact, this condition is somehow related to the geometric conditions for trace theorems in [16], [4], [5] (see also [37]).

Subsequently, to avoid the presence of the boundary integral on the left-hand side of (3), in Proposition 5.14, we introduce the "condition  $(J\nu_H)$ ". This is a geometric condition and is used in a second formulation of the main inequality (see Theorem 6.3), which reads essentially as follows.

**Theorem 1.2.** Let  $\mathcal{U} \subseteq \mathbb{H}^n$  be a domain with boundary of class  $\mathbb{C}^2$  satisfying condition (H) (see Definition 3.4). Let  $u \in \Omega_H^h(\overline{\mathcal{U}}) \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{C}$  be a horizontal h-form with  $1 \leq h < n$ , and assume that:

- (i) u satisfies condition (DN) (see Proposition 5.11);
- (ii) u satisfies condition  $(J\nu_H^*)$  (see Remark 5.15).

Then, there exist geometric constants  $\widetilde{C}_1$  and  $\widetilde{C}_2$ , only dependent on  $\mathcal{U}$  and on the integers h and n, such that

(4) 
$$D_H(u) \ge \widetilde{C}_1 \int_{\mathcal{U}} \|\nabla_H u\|^2 dV - \widetilde{C}_2 \int_{\mathcal{U}} \|u\|^2 dV.$$

Furthermore, if  $u \in \Omega_H^h(\overline{\mathcal{U}}) \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{C}$  is a horizontal h-form with  $n+1 \leq h \leq 2n$ , then (4) still holds provided that  $*_H u$  satisfies (i) and (ii), where  $*_H$  denotes

the Hodge duality operator between horizontal forms. Finally, under these assumptions, Theorem 6.7 (see Section 6) still holds for the case h = n.

In Section 7 we introduce the two new conditions (44) and (45). These conditions are then used in Theorem 7.1, which is our final formulation of the main inequality.

**Theorem 1.3.** Let  $\mathcal{U} \subsetneq \mathbb{H}^n$  be a domain with smooth boundary of class  $\mathbb{C}^2$  satisfying condition (H) (see Definition 3.4). Let  $u \in \Omega_H^h(\overline{\mathcal{U}}) \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{C}$  be a horizontal h-form with  $1 \leq h < n$ , and assume that either

- (i)  $u_{\nu_H} = 0$ ,
- (ii) u satisfies the condition (44),

or

- (j)  $u_t = 0$ ,
- (jj) u satisfies the condition (45).

Then, there exist geometric constants  $\widetilde{C}_1$  and  $\widetilde{C}_2$ , only dependent on  $\mathcal{U}$  and on the integers h and n, such that

(5) 
$$D_H(u) \ge \widetilde{C}_1 \int_{\mathcal{U}} \|\nabla_H u\|^2 dV - \widetilde{C}_2 \int_{\mathcal{U}} \|u\|^2 dV.$$

Furthermore, if  $u \in \Omega_H^h(\overline{\mathcal{U}}) \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{C}$  is a horizontal h-form with  $n+1 \leq h \leq 2n$ , then (5) still holds provided that  $*_H u$  satisfies (i) and (ii). Finally, under these assumptions, Theorem 6.7 (see Section 6) still holds for the case h = n.

Theorems 1.1, 1.2 and 1.3 have a natural counterpart in the setting of Rumin's complex: se Theorems 8.22, 8.24 and 8.25.

The three different boundary conditions just discussed naturally arise as a consequence of an integration by parts that involves the (intrinsically 2nd order) differential operator T. When performing this computation, we carry out some elementary, but not trivial, algebraic manipulations that, in a sense, are modeled on the standard Kählerian structures of  $\mathbb{H}^n$ .

It is worth observing that the first and third conditions cannot be easily related one to another and that the second condition turns out to be stronger than the other two.

Let us give an overview of the organization of this paper.

In Section 2 we gather the basic notions concerning Heisenberg groups and differential forms. We also state some more or less known preliminary results.

Section 3 is devoted to prove some trace theorems in  $\mathbb{H}^n$ .

In Section 4 we collect some standard results of Kähler geometry in the context of Heisenberg groups.

Section 5 contains the technical core of the paper, with estimates of the boundary terms that occur by integrating by parts the so-called horizontal Dirichlet integral  $D_H$ .

As a consequence of these estimates, in Sections 6 and 7, we state and prove our Gaffney-Friedrichs-type inequalities in  $(\Omega_H^*, d_H)$ .

Finally, in Section 8, after providing a basic introduction to Rumin's complex, we state our Gaffney-Friedrichs-type inequalities in  $(E_0^*, d_c)$ .

#### 2. Preliminaries on horizontal forms

2.1. Heisenberg groups and horizontal forms. In this section we give a quick overview of Heisenberg groups and we fix our notation. For more details, the reader is referred to [6], [24], [31], [44]. Let  $\mathbb{H}^n$  be the *n*-th Heisenberg group, identified with  $\mathbb{R}^{2n+1}$  through exponential coordinates of the first kind. A point  $p \in \mathbb{H}^n$  is written as a triple p = (x, y, t), where  $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^n$  and  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ .

If  $p=(x,y,t),\,p'=(x',y',t')\in\mathbb{H}^n,$  then the Lie group operation is defined as

$$p \cdot p' := \left( x + x', y + y', t + t + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \left( x_j y'_j - y_j x'_j \right) \right).$$

If  $p^{-1}$  denotes the inverse of  $p \in \mathbb{H}^n$ , then  $p^{-1} = (-x, -y, -t)$ . Moreover, if  $q \in \mathbb{H}^n$  and r > 0, then left translations and intrinsic dilations are defined by setting

$$\tau_q p := q \cdot p, \qquad \delta_r p := (rx, ry, r^2 t).$$

We endow  $\mathbb{H}^n$  with the homogeneous norm

$$\varrho(p) := \left( \left( \|x\|_{\mathbb{R}^n}^2 + \|y\|_{\mathbb{R}^n}^2 \right)^2 + t^2 \right)^{\frac{1}{4}},$$

which is (up to a constant) the so-called *Koranyi norm*. In particular, the associated gauge-distance is defined as  $d_{\varrho}(p,q) := \varrho(p^{-1} \cdot q)$ ; see, e.g., [44]. We recall that the homogeneous dimension of  $(\mathbb{H}^n, d_{\varrho})$  (w.r.t. the dilations  $\delta_r$ ) is the integer Q := 2n + 2, which coincides with its Hausdorff dimension with respect to the metric  $d_{\varrho}$ . Notice that Q is strictly greater than the topological dimension of  $\mathbb{H}^n$ , which is 2n + 1.

Let  $\mathfrak{h}$  denote the Lie algebra of all left invariant vector fields of  $\mathbb{H}^n$ . We assume that the basis of  $\mathfrak{h}$  is given by

$$X_i := \partial_{x_i} - \frac{y_i}{2} \partial_t, \qquad Y_i := \partial_{y_i} + \frac{x_i}{2} \partial_t \quad \forall i = 1, ..., n; \qquad T := \partial_t.$$

The only non-trivial commutation relations are  $[X_i, Y_i] = T$  for i = 1, ..., n. The subspace  $\mathfrak{h}_1$  of  $\mathfrak{h}$  generated by the vector fields  $\{X_1, Y_1, ..., X_n, Y_n\}$  is called *horizontal subspace*. Denoting by  $\mathfrak{h}_2$  the linear span of T, we have

$$\mathfrak{h} = \mathfrak{h}_1 \oplus \mathfrak{h}_2$$
,

which simply means that the Lie algebra is stratified.

Throughout this paper, we endow  $\mathfrak{h}$  with the inner product  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$  that makes the basis  $\{X_1, Y_1, ..., X_n, Y_n, T\}$  orthonormal. We refer to  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$  as the *Riemannian metric* in  $\mathfrak{h}$  and we denote by  $\| \cdot \|$  its associated norm. For later use, we set

$$W_{2i-1} := X_i$$
  $W_{2i} := Y_i$   $\forall i = 1, ..., n;$   $W_{2n+1} := T.$ 

For any  $f: \mathbb{H}^n \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$  of class  $\mathbf{C}^1$  we denote by  $\nabla_H f$  the horizontal gradient of f (i.e.,  $\nabla_H f := \sum_{i=1}^{2n} (W_i f) W_i$ ) and by  $\nabla f$  the Riemannian gradient of f (i.e.,  $\nabla f := \sum_{i=1}^{2n+1} (W_i f) W_i \equiv (\nabla_H f, Tf)$ ).

Furthermore, for any  $\mathbf{C}^1$  horizontal vector field  $\Phi = \sum_{i=1}^{2n} \phi_i W_i$  we denote

Furthermore, for any  $\mathbb{C}^1$  horizontal vector field  $\Phi = \sum_{i=1}^{2n} \phi_i W_i$  we denote by  $\operatorname{div}_H \Phi := \sum_{i=1}^{2n} W_i \phi_i$  the horizontal divergence of  $\Phi$  and by  $\Delta_K$  the nonnegative horizontal sub-Laplacian (i.e., the *Kohn Laplacian*) defined, for any

function f of class  $\mathbb{C}^2$ , as follows:

$$\Delta_K f := -\operatorname{div}_H (\nabla_H f) = -\sum_{i=1}^{2n} W_i^2 f.$$

The dual space of  $\mathfrak{h}$  is denoted by  $\bigwedge^1 \mathfrak{h}$ . The basis of  $\bigwedge^1 \mathfrak{h}$ , which is dual to the standard basis  $\{X_1,Y_1,...,X_n,Y_n,T\}$ , is the family of covectors  $\{dx_1,dy_1,...,dx_n,dy_n,\vartheta\}$ , where  $\vartheta$  denotes the *contact form* of  $\mathbb{H}^n$  given by  $\vartheta:=dt-\frac{1}{2}\sum_{i=1}^n(x_idy_i-y_idx_i)$ . The inner product on  $\mathfrak{h}$  gives rise to an inner product on  $\bigwedge^1 \mathfrak{h}$ , denoted in the same way. In particular,  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$  makes the basis  $\{dx_1,dy_1,...,dx_n,dy_n,\vartheta\}$  an orthonormal basis. In accordance with our previous notation, we set

$$\psi_{2i-1} := dx_i \qquad \psi_{2i} := dy_i \quad \forall i = 1, ..., n; \qquad \psi_{2n+1} := \vartheta.$$

We clearly have  $\psi_l(W_m) = \delta_l^m$  for every l, m = 1, ..., 2n+1, where  $\delta_l^m$  denotes the Kronecker delta function. The volume form of  $\mathbb{H}^n$  is, by definition, the left-invariant (2n+1)-form  $dV := \psi_1 \wedge ... \wedge \psi_{2n+1}$ .

Set 
$$\Lambda_0 \mathfrak{h} := \Lambda^0 \mathfrak{h} = \mathbb{R}$$
 and

for any k=1,...,2n+1. The action of a k-covector  $\psi$  on a k-vector v is denoted by  $\langle \psi | v \rangle$ . We observe that the inner product  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$  can be canonically extended to  $\bigwedge_k \mathfrak{h}$  and  $\bigwedge^k \mathfrak{h}$  in a way that  $\Psi_k$  and  $\Psi^k$  are both orthonormal bases. In the sequel, we shall denote by  $\psi_i^k$  the i-th element of the basis  $\Psi^k$ , whenever  $1 \leq i \leq {2n+1 \choose k}$  (= dim  $\Psi^k$ ).

The above definitions can now be reformulated by replacing  $\mathfrak{h}$  with the horizontal subspace  $\mathfrak{h}_1$  and by setting

$$\begin{split} \bigwedge_k \mathfrak{h}_1 &:= & \operatorname{span} \left\{ W_{i_1} \wedge \ldots \wedge W_{i_k} : 1 \leq i_1 < \ldots < i_k \leq 2n \right\}, \\ \bigwedge^k \mathfrak{h}_1 &:= & \operatorname{span} \left\{ \psi_{i_1} \wedge \ldots \wedge \psi_{i_k} : 1 \leq i_1 < \ldots < i_k \leq 2n \right\}, \end{split}$$

for any k = 1, ..., 2n. Recall that by definition the *symplectic 2-form* of  $\mathbb{H}^n$  is given by  $d\vartheta = -\sum_{i=1}^n dx_i \wedge dy_i \in \bigwedge^2 \mathfrak{h}_1$ .

If  $1 \le k \le 2n + 1$ , the "Hodge star operator" and its dual operator (denoted in the same way), i.e.,

$$*: \bigwedge_k \mathfrak{h} \leftrightarrow \bigwedge_{2n+1-k} \mathfrak{h} \quad \text{and} \quad *: \bigwedge^k \mathfrak{h} \leftrightarrow \bigwedge^{2n+1-k} \mathfrak{h},$$

are the isomorphisms defined, for any  $v, w \in \bigwedge_k \mathfrak{h}$  and  $\varphi, \psi \in \bigwedge^k \mathfrak{h}$ , by  $v \wedge *w := \langle v, w \rangle W_1 \wedge .... \wedge W_{2n+1}$  and  $\varphi \wedge *\psi := \langle \varphi, \psi \rangle \psi_1 \wedge .... \wedge \psi_{2n+1}$ .

For any  $v \in \bigwedge_k \mathfrak{h}$  we define  $v^{\sharp} \in \bigwedge^k \mathfrak{h}$  by using the identity  $\langle v^{\sharp} | w \rangle = \langle v, w \rangle$  for any  $w \in \bigwedge_k \mathfrak{h}$ . The inverse operator on covectors is denoted as  $\alpha \to \alpha^{\flat}$ .

It is well-known that the Lie algebra  $\mathfrak{h}$  can always be identified with the tangent space at the identity  $e = 0 \in \mathbb{H}^n$ , i.e.,  $\mathfrak{h} \cong T_e \mathbb{H}^n$ . In particular,

 $\mathfrak{h}_1$  can be identified with a subspace of  $T_e\mathbb{H}^n$ , denoted by  $\bigwedge_1 \mathfrak{h}_1$ . Moreover,  $\bigwedge_1 \mathfrak{h}_1$  defines by left translation a smooth subbundle of the tangent bundle  $T\mathbb{H}^n$  which, with a slight abuse of notation, is still denoted by  $\bigwedge_1 \mathfrak{h}_1$ . By definition, the sections of  $\bigwedge_1 \mathfrak{h}_1$  are called *horizontal vector fields*.

Analogously, if  $0 \le h \le 2n + 1$ , then  $\bigwedge^h \mathfrak{h}$  defines by left translation a vector bundle still denoted by  $\bigwedge^h \mathfrak{h}$ , and if  $0 \le h \le 2n$ , then  $\bigwedge^h \mathfrak{h}_1$  defines again by left translation a vector bundle still denoted by  $\bigwedge^h \mathfrak{h}_1$ .

If  $0 \le h \le 2n+1$ , we denote by  $\Omega^h$  the vector space of differential h-forms on  $\mathbb{H}^n$  (i.e., the vector space of all smooth sections of  $\Lambda^h \mathfrak{h}$ ). Furthermore, if  $0 \le h \le 2n$ , we denote by  $\Omega^h_H$  the vector space of horizontal differential h-forms on  $\mathbb{H}^n$  (i.e., the vector space of all smooth sections of  $\Lambda^h \mathfrak{h}_1$ ).

**Definition 2.1.** Let  $\alpha \in \Omega_H^h$ . Throughout this paper, we shall set

$$d_H\alpha := d\alpha - \vartheta \wedge \mathcal{L}_T\alpha,$$

where the symbol  $\mathcal{L}_T$  stands for "Lie derivative" along the vector field T.

Roughly speaking, the operator  $d_H$  represents the exterior differential along the horizontal distribution and is only defined for any h-form  $\alpha \in \Omega^h$  such that  $i_T(\alpha) = 0$ , where the symbol  $i_T$  stands for "interior product" of  $\alpha$  with T; see, for example, [35], p. 235.

We recall the following useful identity: If X, Y are vector fields, then

$$[\mathcal{L}_X, i_Y] = i_{[X,Y]};$$

see Corollary 6.4.12 in [1].

Furthermore, we define the "horizontal Hodge star operator" and its dual operator (again denoted in the same way), i.e.,

$$*_H: \bigwedge^k \mathfrak{h}_1 \to \bigwedge^{2n-k} \mathfrak{h}_1 \quad \text{and} \quad *_H: \bigwedge^k \mathfrak{h}_1 \leftrightarrow \bigwedge^{2n-k} \mathfrak{h}_1,$$

as  $v \wedge *_H w := \langle v, w \rangle W_1 \wedge .... \wedge W_{2n}$  and  $\varphi_H \wedge *_H \psi := \langle \varphi, \psi \rangle \psi_1 \wedge .... \wedge \psi_{2n}$  for every  $v, w \in \bigwedge_k \mathfrak{h}_1$  and every  $\varphi, \psi \in \bigwedge^k \mathfrak{h}_1$ .

Notice that, under our current assumptions, we have  $\frac{(d\vartheta)^n}{n!} = \psi_1 \wedge ... \wedge \psi_{2n}$ ; see, e.g., [33], p. 44, Remark 1.2.22.

The next identities follow from [40], p. 292.

**Lemma 2.2.** If  $k \geq n$  and  $\beta \in \bigwedge^k \mathfrak{h}_1$ , with  $n \leq k \leq 2n$ , then

$$*_H\beta = *(\theta \wedge \beta).$$

If  $0 \le k \le n$  and  $\alpha \in \bigwedge^k \mathfrak{h}_1$ , then

$$*\alpha = (-1)^k \theta \wedge *_H \alpha.$$

For the sake of completeness, we recall some standard results concerning wedge product and interior multiplication; see, for instance, Definition 2.11, Proposition 2.14, and Proposition 2.16 in [15].

**Definition 2.3.** If  $\alpha \in \Omega^k$  and  $\mu \in \Omega^\ell$ , with  $1 \le \ell < k \le 2n+1$ , we set

$$\mu \, \sqcup \, \alpha := (-1)^{k-\ell} * (\mu \wedge (*\alpha)).$$

**Lemma 2.4.** If  $1 \le k \le 2n+1$ ,  $\alpha \in \Omega^k$ ,  $\beta \in \Omega^{k-1}$  and  $\mu \in \Omega^1$ , then

$$\mu\, \lrcorner \,\, \alpha = i_{\mu^{\flat}}\alpha.$$

Moreover, we have

$$\langle \mu \, \rfloor \, \alpha, \beta \rangle = \langle \alpha, \mu \wedge \beta \rangle.$$

By using Lemma 2.2 we obtain the following.

**Lemma 2.5.** If  $\alpha \in \Omega^k_H$  and  $\mu \in \Omega^\ell_H$ , with  $1 \le \ell < k \le n$ , then

$$\mu \, \bot \, \alpha = *_H(\mu \wedge *_H \alpha).$$

In addition, we recall the following useful result.

**Lemma 2.6.** If  $\alpha \in \Omega_H^k$ ,  $\beta \in \Omega_H^\ell$  and  $\gamma \in \Omega_H^r$ , with  $0 \le k + \ell \le r \le 2n$ , then

$$(\alpha \wedge \beta) \, \bot \, \gamma = (-1)^{k+\ell} \alpha \, \bot \, (\beta \, \bot \, \gamma).$$

Moreover, if  $k + \ell = r$ , then

$$\langle \alpha \wedge \beta, \gamma \rangle = (-1)^{\ell(k+1)} \langle \beta, \alpha \, \rfloor \, \gamma \rangle = (-1)^k \langle \alpha, \beta \, \rfloor \, \gamma \rangle.$$

We also define the horizontal codifferential  $\delta_H: \Omega_H^{h+1} \to \Omega_H^h$  by setting

$$\delta_H := - *_H d_H *_H.$$

Notice that

$$\int_{\mathbb{H}^n} \langle \delta_H \alpha, \beta \rangle \ dV = \int_{\mathbb{H}^n} \langle \alpha, d_H \beta \rangle \ dV$$

for all  $\beta \in \Omega^{h-1}$ . Finally, let  $\Delta_H : \Omega_H^h \to \Omega_H^h$  be the horizontal sub-Laplacian operator defined as

$$\Delta_H := d_H \delta_H + \delta_H d_H$$
.

**Definition 2.7.** [The operators L and  $\Lambda$ ] From now on, we shall set

$$L\alpha := -d\vartheta \wedge \alpha, \qquad \Lambda := L^*,$$

(i.e.,  $L^*$  denotes the adjoint of L w.r.t. the inner product  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ ).

The following identity can be found in [40]; see also [46].

**Lemma 2.8.** If  $\alpha \in \bigwedge^h \mathfrak{h}_1$ , then we have  $[\Lambda, L]\alpha = (n-h)\alpha$ .

Note that

$$\langle i_Z \alpha, \beta \rangle = \langle \alpha, Z^\# \wedge \beta \rangle$$

for every  $\alpha \in \bigwedge^{h+1} \mathfrak{h}_1$ ,  $\beta \in \bigwedge^h \mathfrak{h}_1$  and  $Z \in \bigwedge_1 \mathfrak{h}_1$ . Hence, it follows that

$$\Lambda = \sum_{k=1}^{n} i_{Y_k} i_{X_k}.$$

2.2. Decomposition of forms on the boundary of a domain I. We begin with the definition of horizontal normal to the boundary of a domain (i.e., bounded, connected open set).

**Definition 2.9.** Let  $E \subset \mathbb{H}^n$  be an open set with boundary  $\partial E$  of class  $\mathbb{C}^1$ . We denote by  $n_H$  the (non-unit) horizontal normal to  $\partial E$  defined as follows:  $n_H$  is the Riemannian orthogonal projection on  $\Lambda_1$   $\mathfrak{h}_1$  of the Riemannian outward unit normal n to  $\partial E$ . Thus we have  $n = n_H + n_T T$ .

In particular, if (locally)  $\partial E = \{f = 0\}$ , where  $f : \mathbb{H}^n \to \mathbb{R}$  is a  $\mathbb{C}^1$ function with non-vanishing horizontal gradient, then  $n_H = \|\nabla f\|^{-1} \nabla_H f$ , where  $\nabla f$  is the Riemannian gradient of f and  $\|\nabla f\|$  its norm.

We define a horizontal unit normal vector to  $\partial E$  by setting  $\nu_H := \frac{\mathbf{n}_H}{\|\mathbf{n}_H\|}$ at each point  $p \in \partial E$  where  $n_H(p) \neq 0$ . These points are the so-called noncharacteristic points of  $\partial E$  and we usually write char  $(\partial E)$  to indicate the characteristic set of  $\partial E$  (i.e., the set of points  $p \in \partial E$  where  $n_H(p) = 0$ ). We explicitly note that  $\nu_H = \sum_{i=1}^{2n} (\nu_H)_i W_i$ , where  $(\nu_H)_i := \langle \nu_H, W_i \rangle$ . To avoid cumbersome notation, in the sequel we will still denote by n,  $n_H$ 

and  $\nu_H$ , their dual 1-forms  $n^{\#}$ ,  $n_H^{\#}$  and  $\nu_H^{\#}$ .

Besides, we adapt to our framework a standard notation; see, e.g., [15] or [45]. More precisely, we shall set

$$\alpha_{\mathbf{t}} := \nu_H \, \bot (\nu_H \wedge \alpha), \qquad \alpha_{\nu_H} := \nu_H \, \bot \, \alpha \qquad \forall \, \alpha \in \Omega^h_H(\overline{\mathcal{U}}).$$

We then obtain the useful decomposition formula

$$\alpha = \alpha_{\rm t} + \nu_H \wedge \alpha_{\nu_H} \qquad \forall \, \alpha \in \Omega^h_H(\overline{\mathcal{U}}).$$

The following remark will be needed later: If  $\alpha \in \Omega_H^h$ , then

(6) 
$$\nu_H \wedge \alpha_{\nu_H} = 0$$
 if and only if  $\alpha_{\nu_H} = 0$ .

Indeed, suppose that  $\nu_H \wedge \alpha_{\nu_H} = 0$ . By Lemma 2.4 one has

$$0 = \langle \nu_H \wedge \alpha_{\nu_H}, \alpha \rangle = \langle \nu_H \wedge (\nu_H \, \lrcorner \, \alpha), \alpha \rangle = \langle \nu_H \, \lrcorner \, \alpha, \nu_H \, \lrcorner \, \alpha \rangle = |\alpha_{\nu_H}|^2.$$

The reverse implication is trivial.

We conclude this section by recalling the horizontal Green's formulas valid in our setting; for similar statements, see Theorem 4.9 in [10].

Here and elsewhere, we make use of the standard notation  $\mathcal{D} \equiv \mathbf{C}_0^{\infty}$ .

**Definition 2.10.** Let  $\mathcal{U} \subsetneq \mathbb{H}^n$  be a domain with boundary of class  $\mathbb{C}^2$ . For every  $\alpha, \beta \in \Omega^h(\overline{\mathcal{U}}) := \mathcal{D}(\overline{\mathcal{U}}, \bigwedge^h \mathfrak{h})$ , we set

$$\langle \alpha, \beta \rangle_{L^2(\mathcal{U})} := \int_{\mathcal{U}} \langle \alpha, \beta \rangle \ dV.$$

In addition, if  $\alpha \in \Omega_H^{h-1}(\overline{\mathcal{U}}) := \mathcal{D}(\overline{\mathcal{U}}, \bigwedge^{h-1} \mathfrak{h}_1)$  and  $\beta \in \Omega_H^h(\overline{\mathcal{U}}) := \mathcal{D}(\overline{\mathcal{U}}, \bigwedge^h \mathfrak{h}_1)$  are intrinsic forms, it follows that

(7) 
$$\langle d_H \alpha, \beta \rangle_{L^2(\mathcal{U})} = \langle \alpha, \delta_H \beta \rangle_{L^2(\mathcal{U})} + \int_{\partial \mathcal{U}} \langle \mathbf{n} \wedge \alpha, \beta \rangle \ d\sigma.$$

These formulas also hold when  $\alpha \in \mathbf{C}^1(\overline{\mathcal{U}}, \bigwedge^{h-1} \mathfrak{h}_1), \beta \in \mathbf{C}^1(\overline{\mathcal{U}}, \bigwedge^h \mathfrak{h}_1).$ 

Note that the outward unit normal n(x) at any point  $p \in \partial \mathcal{U}$  is given by  $n(p) = n_H(p) + n_T(p)T$ , where  $n_H(p)$  is the (orthogonal) projection of n(p) onto the horizontal subspace  $\bigwedge_1 \mathfrak{h}_1$  at  $p \in \partial \mathcal{U}$ . Thus, after the natural identification  $n \cong n^{\#}$ , we get  $\langle n \wedge \alpha, \beta \rangle = \langle n_H \wedge \alpha, \beta \rangle$ , since both  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  are horizontal. Eventually, we obtain the formula

$$\int_{\partial \mathcal{U}} \langle \mathbf{n} \wedge \alpha, \beta \rangle \ d\sigma = \int_{\partial \mathcal{U}} \langle \mathbf{n}_H \wedge \alpha, \beta \rangle \ d\sigma = \int_{\partial \mathcal{U}} \langle \nu_H \wedge \alpha, \beta \rangle \ d\sigma_H.$$

2.3. **Perimeter measure in Heisenberg groups.** We briefly recall the notion of intrinsic perimeter measure in Heisenberg groups and some related facts.

As already said in the introduction, if  $E \subset \mathbb{H}^n$  is a measurable set, an intrinsic notion of  $\mathbb{H}^n$ -perimeter measure  $|\partial E|_{\mathbb{H}^n}$  has been introduced in [30]; we refer the reader to [30, 20, 21, 22] for a detailed presentation. Here, we just have to recall that, if E has locally finite  $\mathbb{H}^n$ -perimeter (i.e., E is a  $\mathbb{H}^n$ -Caccioppoli set), then  $|\partial E|_{\mathbb{H}^n}$  is a Radon measure in  $\mathbb{H}^n$ , which is left-invariant and (2n+1)-homogeneous (w.r.t. the dilations  $\delta_r$ ).

We recall that, by definition, the 2n-dimensional  $Riemannian\ measure$  of  $\partial E$ , later denoted as  $\sigma$ , is obtained by wedging together the elements of an oriented orthonormal coframe for  $\partial E$  and, because of its role in integration, we adopt the notation  $d\sigma$ , when it appears under the integral sign.

Remark 2.11. We observe that the characteristic set char  $(\partial E)$  turns out to be "small" since both its  $\mathbb{H}^n$ -perimeter measure and its 2n-dimensional Euclidean Hausdorff measure vanish.

For later purposes we need to mention that the Riemannian measure  $\sigma$  is equivalent (in the measure theoretic sense) to the Euclidean measure  $\mathcal{H}^{2n}$ . Hence, under our assumptions,  $\sigma(\text{char}(\partial E)) = 0$ . For further properties of  $\text{char}(\partial E)$ , see, e.g., [18], [27], [17], [2, 3].

We also need the following representation formula; see [13].

**Proposition 2.12.** Let  $\mathcal{U} \subsetneq \mathbb{H}^n$  be a bounded open set with boundary  $\partial \mathcal{U}$  of class  $\mathbb{C}^1$ . Then  $\mathcal{U}$  is a  $\mathbb{H}^n$ -Caccioppoli set. Furthermore, it turns out that the  $\mathbb{H}^n$ -perimeter measure is absolutely continuous with respect to the Euclidean 2n-dimensional Hausdorff measure  $\mathcal{H}^{2n}$ . More precisely, if  $\mathcal{A} \subseteq \mathbb{H}^n$  is an open set, then

$$|\partial \mathcal{U}|_{\mathbb{H}^n}(\mathcal{A}) = \int_{\partial \mathcal{U} \cap \mathcal{A}} \sqrt{\sum_{i=1}^n \left( \langle X_i, n \rangle_{\mathbb{R}^{2n+1}}^2 + \langle Y_i, n \rangle_{\mathbb{R}^{2n+1}}^2 \right)} d\mathcal{H}^{2n}$$
$$= \int_{\partial \mathcal{U} \cap \mathcal{A}} \|\mathbf{n}_H\| d\sigma,$$

where n is the Euclidean outward unit normal, and  $d\sigma$  is the 2n-dimensional Riemannian measure along  $\partial \mathcal{U}$ .

For the sake of simplicity, in this smooth setting we shall simply write

$$\sigma_H := |\partial \mathcal{U}|_{\mathbb{H}^n}$$

- 3. Boundary terms and the trace map
- 3.1. Trace theorems in Heisenberg groups. From now on we assume that  $\mathcal{U}$  is a domain with boundary  $\partial \mathcal{U}$  of class  $\mathbb{C}^2$ . First of all, we state a trace theorem away from the characteristic points of  $\partial \mathcal{U}$ .

**Theorem 3.1.** Let  $\mathcal{U} \subseteq \mathbb{H}^n$  be a bounded open set with boundary of class  $\mathbb{C}^2$ . Let  $\mathcal{V} \subset \partial \mathcal{U}$  be a neighborhood of char $(\partial \mathcal{U})$ . Then, there exists a geometric constant  $C_{\mathcal{V},\mathcal{U}} > 0$  such that for any  $0 < \delta < 1$  one has

(8) 
$$\int_{\partial \mathcal{U} \setminus \mathcal{V}} \|u\|^2 d\sigma_H \le \left( C_{\mathcal{V}, \mathcal{U}} + \frac{4}{\delta} \right) \int_{\mathcal{U}} \|u\|^2 dV + \delta \int_{\mathcal{U}} \|\nabla_H u\|^2 dV.$$

for any  $u \in \mathbf{C}^1(\overline{\mathcal{U}})$ .

Proof. Let  $\varphi \in \mathbf{C}_0^1(\partial \mathcal{U})$  be such that  $\varphi = 1$  on  $\partial \mathcal{U} \setminus \mathcal{V}$  and  $\varphi = 0$  on  $\mathcal{V}' \subset\subset \mathcal{V}$ . Now let  $\widetilde{\nu_H}$  denote the extension of  $\nu_H$  to  $\partial \mathcal{U}$  defined as  $\widetilde{\nu_H} := \varphi \nu_H$ . This extension is a horizontal vector field of class  $\mathbf{C}^1$  on  $\partial \mathcal{U}$  that coincides with  $\nu_H$  out of  $\mathcal{V}$ . With a slight abuse of notation, we denote by  $\widetilde{\nu_H}$  any  $\mathbf{C}^1$  horizontal extension of  $\widetilde{\nu_H}$  to the closure of  $\mathcal{U}$ , i.e.,  $\widetilde{\nu_H} \in \mathbf{C}^1(\overline{\mathcal{U}})$ . It follows that both  $\|\widetilde{\nu_H}\|$  and  $\operatorname{div}_H(\widetilde{\nu_H})$  are continuous functions on  $\overline{\mathcal{U}}$  and hence they are both bounded by some positive constant  $C_{\mathcal{V},\mathcal{U}}$ , only dependent on  $\mathcal{V}$  and  $\mathcal{U}$ . By the previous assumptions we get

$$\int_{\partial \mathcal{U} \setminus \mathcal{V}} \|u\|^{2} d\sigma_{H}$$

$$= \int_{\partial \mathcal{U} \setminus \mathcal{V}} \|u\|^{2} \langle \nu_{H}, \nu_{H} \rangle d\sigma_{H}$$

$$= \int_{\partial \mathcal{U} \setminus \mathcal{V}} \|u\|^{2} \langle (\nu_{H} - \widetilde{\nu_{H}} + \widetilde{\nu_{H}}), \nu_{H} \rangle d\sigma_{H}$$

$$= \underbrace{\int_{\partial \mathcal{U} \setminus \mathcal{V}} \|u\|^{2} \langle (\nu_{H} - \widetilde{\nu_{H}}), \nu_{H} \rangle d\sigma_{H}}_{=0} + \underbrace{\int_{\partial \mathcal{U} \setminus \mathcal{V}} \|u\|^{2} \langle \widetilde{\nu_{H}}, \nu_{H} \rangle d\sigma_{H}}_{=0}$$

$$\leq \int_{\partial \mathcal{U}} \|u\|^{2} \langle \widetilde{\nu_{H}}, \nu_{H} \rangle d\sigma_{H} \quad (\text{since } \langle \widetilde{\nu_{H}}, \nu_{H} \rangle = \varphi \text{ on } \mathcal{V} \cap \partial \mathcal{U})$$

$$= \int_{\partial \mathcal{U}} \langle (\|u\|^{2} \widetilde{\nu_{H}}), \nu_{H} \rangle d\sigma_{H}.$$

By the divergence theorem for  $\mathbb{C}^2$  hypersurfaces and the very definition of the  $\mathbb{H}^n$ -perimeter measure  $\sigma_H$ , we can make the following calculations.

$$\int_{\partial \mathcal{U}} \left\langle \left( \|u\|^{2} \widetilde{\nu_{H}} \right), \nu_{H} \right\rangle d\sigma_{H}$$

$$= \int_{\mathcal{U}} \operatorname{div}_{H} \left( \|u\|^{2} \widetilde{\nu_{H}} \right) dV$$

$$= \int_{\mathcal{U}} \|u\|^{2} \operatorname{div}_{H} \left( \widetilde{\nu_{H}} \right) dV + \int_{\mathcal{U}} 2\|u\| \left\langle \nabla_{H} \|u\|, \widetilde{\nu_{H}} \right\rangle dV$$

$$\leq C_{\mathcal{V},\mathcal{U}} \int_{\mathcal{U}} \|u\|^{2} dV + \int_{\mathcal{U}} 4\|u\| \|\nabla_{H} \|u\| \| dV.$$

Finally, since

$$4\|u\|\left\|\nabla_{H}\|u\|\right\|\leq 4\frac{\|u\|^{2}}{\delta}+\delta\left\|\nabla_{H}\|u\|\right\|^{2}\leq 4\frac{\|u\|^{2}}{\delta}+\delta\left\|\nabla_{H}u\right\|^{2},$$

the claim easily follows.

Notice that (8) contains the "error term"  $\int_{\partial \mathcal{U} \cap \mathcal{V}} \|u\|^2 d\sigma$ , which depends on the choice of  $\mathcal{V}$ . This is a novelty with respect to the classical trace theorems. The error is actually related to the presence of characteristic points on  $\partial \mathcal{U}$ , as somewhat shown by the following.

**Example 3.2.** In the Riemannian setting, a "global inequality" akin to (8) follows by Ehrling's theorem (see, e.g., [45], Lemma 1.5.3), provided that the trace operator  $\mathcal{T}: W^{1,2}(\mathcal{U}) \to L^2(\partial \mathcal{U}, d\sigma)$  is compact. Let us anticipate that our next Theorem 3.9 will imply that an Ehrling-type inequality for the norm in  $L^2(\partial \mathcal{U}, d\sigma_H)$  still holds for open sets  $\mathcal{U}$  satisfying a geometric assumption called "condition (H)"; see Definition 3.4 below.

As a matter of fact, an Ehrling-type inequality for the norm in  $L^2(\partial \mathcal{U}, d\sigma)$ is true for general  $\mathbb{C}^2$  open sets  $\mathcal{U}$  away from characteristic points, as we can see using Theorem 3.9 and keeping in mind that  $d\sigma$  and  $d\sigma_H$  are equivalent away from char( $\partial \mathcal{U}$ ). However, the example below shows that Ehrling's inequality (and hence compactness of the trace, which is still continuous by [4], [5]) fails to hold for the norm in  $L^2(\partial \mathcal{U}, d\sigma)$ , even for sets satisfying condition (H).

Precisely, let  $\varrho(p) = \left( \left( \|x\|_{\mathbb{R}^n}^2 + \|y\|_{\mathbb{R}^n}^2 \right)^2 + t^2 \right)^{\frac{1}{4}}$  be the Koranyi-type norm, let  $B_0(1) = \{p = (x, y, t) \in \mathbb{H}^n : \varrho(p) \le 1\}$  and let  $\mathcal{U} := \{t \ge 0\} \cap B_0(1)$ . The hyperplane  $\{t=0\}$  has a unique isolated characteristic point at the identity  $0 \in \mathbb{H}^n$ . In particular, let  $S_0 := \partial \mathcal{U} \cap \{t = 0\}, u \in \mathcal{D}(B_0(1)),$  and denote by  $\mathcal{T}u$  the trace of u along the boundary.

Let us analyze the (possible) validity of the following statement:

$$(9) \qquad \forall \, \varepsilon > 0 \,\,\exists \, C_{\varepsilon} \quad : \quad \underbrace{\int_{S_0} (\mathcal{T}u)^2 \, d\sigma}_{=: \|\mathcal{T}u\|_{L^2(S_0)}^2} \leq \varepsilon \underbrace{\int_{\mathcal{U}} \|\nabla_H u\|^2 \, dV}_{=: \|\nabla_H u\|_{L^2(\mathcal{U})}^2} + C_{\varepsilon} \underbrace{\int_{\mathcal{U}} u^2 \, dV}_{=: \|u\|_{L^2(\mathcal{U})}^2}.$$

By a homogeneity argument, we now show that (9) cannot hold. To this aim, set

$$u_K := K^n u(Kx, Ky, K^2 t)$$

for some  $K \in \mathbb{R}_+$ , and suppose that  $u \neq 0$  along  $S_0$ . It is elementary to check the following identities:

- $\|\mathcal{T}u_K\|_{L^2(S_0)}^2 = \|\mathcal{T}u\|_{L^2(S_0)}^2$ ,  $\|\nabla_H u_K\|_{L^2(\mathcal{U})}^2 = \|\nabla_H u\|_{L^2(\mathcal{U})}^2$ ,
- $K^2 \|u_K\|_{L^2(\mathcal{U})}^2 = \|u\|_{L^2(\mathcal{U})}^2$

By assuming the validity of (9), with u replaced by  $u_K$ , we get

$$\forall \varepsilon > 0 \ \exists C_{\varepsilon} \quad : \quad \|\mathcal{T}u_K\|_{L^2(S_0)}^2 \le \varepsilon \|\nabla_H u_K\|_{L^2(\mathcal{U})}^2 + C_{\varepsilon} \|u_K\|_{L^2(\mathcal{U})}^2.$$

Hence

$$\forall \varepsilon > 0 \ \exists C_{\varepsilon} \quad : \quad \|\mathcal{T}u\|_{L^{2}(S_{0})}^{2} \leq \varepsilon \|\nabla_{H}u\|_{L^{2}(\mathcal{U})}^{2} + \frac{C_{\varepsilon}}{K^{2}} \|u\|_{L^{2}(\mathcal{U})}^{2}.$$

By the arbitrariness of  $\varepsilon, K \in \mathbb{R}_+$  (and since the  $L^2$ -norm of u can be assumed to be fixed) one readily obtains that the trace of u must be zero, which is a contradiction.

In order to get rid of the "error term" in Theorem 3.1, we need a further assumption on  $\mathcal{U}$ , ensuring that the characteristic set  $\operatorname{char}(\partial \mathcal{U})$  contains only isolated points and in addition a certain amount of "flatness" at the boundary, near  $\operatorname{char}(\partial \mathcal{U})$ .

Remark 3.3. Locally near any point  $p_0 \in \text{char}(\partial \mathcal{U})$ , the boundary of  $\mathcal{U}$  is a T-graph (i.e., Euclidean graph with respect to the hyperplane t = 0). Hence (locally around  $p_0$ ) there is a  $\mathbb{C}^2$  defining function  $g : \mathbb{H}^n \to \mathbb{R}$  of the form g(x, y, t) = t - f(x, y) such that

$$N_H := \nabla_H g = \nabla_H (t - f(x, y)) = \left(-\frac{y}{2} - \nabla_x f, \frac{x}{2} - \nabla_y f\right),$$

where we observe that  $n_H = \frac{N_H}{\|\nabla g\|}$  and  $\nu_H = \frac{N_H}{\|N_H\|}$ . By compactness, there must exist a finite number  $\{\mathcal{V}_i : i = 1, ..., N\}$  of open subsets of  $\partial \mathcal{U}$  such that  $\operatorname{char}(\partial \mathcal{U}) \subset \bigcup_{i=1}^N \mathcal{V}_i$ . Shrinking these sets, if necessary, we can assume that each  $\mathcal{V}_i$  is a T-graph of class  $\mathbb{C}^2$ . In addition, note that any characteristic point  $p_0 \in \mathcal{V}_i \cap \operatorname{char}(\partial \mathcal{U})$  can be thought of as standing at  $0 \in \mathbb{H}^n$ . This second claim easily follows by left translating the set  $\mathcal{V}_i$  by  $-p_0$ . Thus, if  $f_i : \overline{\mathcal{V}_i} \subset \mathbb{R}^{2n} \to \mathbb{R}$  is a  $\mathbb{C}^2$  function such that

$$\mathcal{V}_i = \{ p = (x, y, t) \in \mathbb{H}^n : t = f_i(x, y) \quad \forall (x, y) \in \overline{\mathcal{V}}_i \},$$

we can always suppose that  $f_i(0,0) = 0$  and that  $\nabla_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} f_i(0,0) = 0$ : In this way, the point  $p_0$  corresponds to  $0 \in \mathbb{H}^n$  (note that, here and elsewhere, (0,0) denotes the null element in  $\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n \cong \mathbb{R}^{2n}$ ).

Below we shall assume the following condition prescribing the behavior of  $\partial \mathcal{U}$  near char( $\partial \mathcal{U}$ ).

**Definition 3.4** (Condition (H)). Let  $\{V_i : i = 1, ..., N\}$  be a finite family of open subsets of  $\partial \mathcal{U}$  such that  $\operatorname{char}(\partial \mathcal{U}) \subset \bigcup_{i=1}^N \mathcal{V}_i$  and  $\mathcal{V}_i \cap \partial \mathcal{U}$  is the T-graph of some function  $f_i : \overline{\mathcal{V}}_i \subset \mathbb{R}^{2n} \to \mathbb{R}$  of class  $\mathbb{C}^2$ , i.e.,

$$\mathcal{V}_i \cap \partial \mathcal{U} = \{ p = (x, y, t) \in \mathbb{H}^n : t = f_i(x, y) \quad \forall (x, y) \in \overline{\mathcal{V}}_i \}$$

for any i = 1, ..., N. Then, we say that condition (H) holds if, and only if, one has  $\|\operatorname{Hess}_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} f_i\| = O\left(\|\mathbf{N}_H^{(i)}\|\right)$  for any i = 1, ..., N, where we have set  $\mathbf{N}_H^{(i)} := \left(-\frac{y}{2} - \nabla_x f_i, \frac{x}{2} - \nabla_y f_i\right)$ .

Below we shall set 
$$\|(x,y)\| := \sqrt{\|x\|_{\mathbb{R}^n}^2 + \|y\|_{\mathbb{R}^n}^2}$$
 for any  $(x,y) \in \mathbb{R}^{2n}$ .

Remark 3.5. The condition (H) implies that  $\operatorname{char}(\partial \mathcal{U})$  is discrete. Without loss of generality, by Remark 3.3, we suppose that  $0 \in \mathbb{H}^n$  is a characteristic point of  $\partial \mathcal{U} \cap \mathcal{V}_i$ ; in particular, we have  $f_i(0,0) = 0$  and  $\nabla_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} f_i(0,0) = 0$ . Hence  $\|\mathbf{N}_H^{(i)}(x,y)\| \le C\|(x,y)\|$  and as a consequence we have

$$\|\text{Hess}_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} f_i\| = O(\|(x,y)\|) \text{ near } (0,0) \in \mathbb{R}^{2n}.$$

Again, by mean value theorem

$$\|\nabla_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} f_i\| = O(\|(x, y)\|^2)$$
 near  $(0, 0) \in \mathbb{R}^{2n}$ .

Then, at each point  $(x, y) \neq (0, 0)$  we have

$$\|\mathbf{N}_{H}^{(i)}(x,y)\| = \left\| \frac{1}{2}(-y,x)) - \nabla_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} f_{i} \right\| \ge \left| \|(x,y)\| - C(\|(x,y)\|^{2} \right| > 0$$

near  $(0,0) \in \mathbb{R}^{2n}$ , i.e., the characteristic point  $0 \in \partial \mathcal{U} \cap \mathcal{V}$  is isolated.

To better understand the above condition (H), we consider a special case of domains in  $\mathbb{H}^n$  satisfying it.

Remark 3.6. Suppose that, in a neighborhood of  $0 \in \partial \mathcal{U}$ , the boundary  $\partial \mathcal{U}$ is the T-graph of the function  $f(x,y) = \|(x,y)\|^{2\alpha}$  for some  $\alpha \geq \frac{3}{2}$ . One checks that  $\|N_H\| = O(\|(x,y)\|)$  and that  $\|\text{Hess}_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} f\| = O(\|(x,y)\|^{2(\alpha-1)})$ . Taken together, these facts show that condition (H) holds.

Now, we state a useful compactness criterion.

**Theorem 3.7.** Let  $\mathcal{U} \subsetneq \mathbb{H}^n$  be a bounded open set of class  $\mathbb{C}^2$ . Let X be a Banach space and let  $L: W^{1,2}_H(\mathcal{U}) \to X$  be a continuous linear map. Then L is compact if, and only if, the following property holds:

For any 
$$\delta > 0$$
 there exists  $C(\delta) > 0$  such that

$$||Lu||_X \le \delta ||\nabla_H u||_{L^2(\mathcal{U})} + C(\delta) ||u||_{L^2(\mathcal{U})}.$$

*Proof.* The "only if" part is the well-known Ehrling's inequality (see, e.g., [45], Lemma 1.5.3). Thus we prove the "if" part by showing that L is completely continuous. Let  $(u_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$  be a sequence in  $W_H^{1,2}(\mathcal{U})$  that weakly converges to 0. Then there exists C>0 such that  $\|u_n\|_{W_H^{1,2}(\mathcal{U})}\leq C$  for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . Moreover, by Rellich's theorem (see, e.g., [30], Theorem 1.27)  $u_n \to 0$  strongly in  $L^2(\mathcal{U})$ . Take now  $\varepsilon > 0$  and set  $\delta_{\varepsilon} := \frac{\varepsilon}{2C}$ . In addition, choose  $n_{\varepsilon} \in \mathbb{N}$  such that

$$||u_n||_{L^2(\mathcal{U})} < \frac{\varepsilon}{2C(\delta_{\varepsilon})}$$
 for all  $n > n_{\varepsilon}$ .

Then

$$||Lu_n||_X \leq \delta_{\varepsilon} ||\nabla_H u||_{L^2(\mathcal{U})} + C(\delta_{\varepsilon}) ||u||_{L^2(\mathcal{U})}$$

$$< C \frac{\varepsilon}{2C} + C(\delta_{\varepsilon}) \frac{\varepsilon}{2C(\delta_{\varepsilon})} = \varepsilon,$$

which shows that  $Lu_n \to 0$  strongly in X, as wished.

**Lemma 3.8.** Let  $\mathcal{U} \subseteq \mathbb{H}^n$  be a bounded open set with boundary of class  $\mathbb{C}^2$  and suppose that condition (H) holds. Then there exists a  $\mathbb{C}^1$  function  $\widetilde{\mathbf{n}}_H: \overline{\mathcal{U}} \to \mathbb{R}^{2n} \text{ such that:}$ 

- (i)  $\frac{\tilde{\mathbf{n}}_H}{\|\tilde{\mathbf{n}}_H\|} \equiv \nu_H \text{ on } \partial \mathcal{U} \setminus \operatorname{char}(\partial \mathcal{U});$ (ii)  $\operatorname{div}_H \tilde{\mathbf{n}}_H = O(\|\tilde{\mathbf{n}}_H\|);$ (iii)  $\langle \tilde{\mathbf{n}}_H, \nabla_H \|\tilde{\mathbf{n}}_H\|^2 \rangle = O(\|\tilde{\mathbf{n}}_H\|^3).$

*Proof.* First of all, we notice that the problem can be localized near the boundary by means of a cut-off function supported near  $\partial \mathcal{U}$ . Indeed, if  $\tilde{n}_H$ satisfies (i) - (iii) in a neighborhood  $\mathcal{M}$  of  $\partial \mathcal{U}$ , and if  $\psi$  is a cut-off function supported in  $\mathcal{M}$  such that  $\psi \equiv 1$  on a neighborhood of  $\partial \mathcal{U}$ , then  $\psi \tilde{n}_H$  is a  $\mathbb{C}^1$  function on  $\overline{\mathcal{U}}$  that trivially satisfies (i). In addition

$$\operatorname{div}_{H}(\psi \widetilde{\mathbf{n}}_{H}) = \psi \operatorname{div}_{H}(\widetilde{\mathbf{n}}_{H}) + \langle \nabla_{H} \psi, \widetilde{\mathbf{n}}_{H} \rangle,$$

which is still  $O(\|\widetilde{\mathbf{n}}_H\|)$ . Analogously

$$\langle \psi \widetilde{\mathbf{n}}_{H}, \nabla_{H} \| \psi \widetilde{\mathbf{n}}_{H} \|^{2} \rangle = \psi \| \widetilde{\mathbf{n}}_{H} \|^{2} \langle \widetilde{\mathbf{n}}_{H}, \nabla_{H} \psi \rangle + \psi^{2} \langle \widetilde{\mathbf{n}}_{H}, \nabla_{H} \| \widetilde{\mathbf{n}}_{H} \|^{2} \rangle$$
$$= O(\| \widetilde{\mathbf{n}}_{H} \|^{3})$$

when  $\|\tilde{\mathbf{n}}_H\| \to 0$ . Therefore also (iii) holds.

Now we have to define  $\tilde{\mathbf{n}}_H$  away from the characteristic points and in each set  $\mathcal{V}_i$ ,  $i = 1, \ldots, N$ . Then the global extension  $\tilde{\mathbf{n}}_H$  is obtained by gluing up the local extensions by means of a partition of unity.

Clearly, away from characteristic points we can take  $\tilde{\mathbf{n}}_H := \nu_H$ , since  $\nu_H$  is a continuously differentiable function. Since  $\tilde{\mathbf{n}}_H$  never vanishes, (ii) and (iii) can be replaced by  $\operatorname{div}_H \tilde{\mathbf{n}}_H = O(1)$  and  $\langle \tilde{\mathbf{n}}_H, \nabla_H || \tilde{\mathbf{n}}_H ||^2 \rangle = O(1)$ , respectively.

We are left with the case of one of the  $V_i$ 's. So let  $i \in \{1, ..., N\}$  be fixed and, for simplicity, let us omit the index i. For any point in the set  $\mathcal{V}$  we put  $\widetilde{\mathbf{n}}_H(x,y,t) := \nabla_H(f(x,y)-t)$ . Since  $\widetilde{\mathbf{n}}_H(x,y,t) \neq 0$  for  $(x,y,t) \neq 0$  (recall that  $0 \in \mathbb{H}^n$  is an isolated characteristic point of  $\partial \mathcal{U}$ ), it follows that at any point in  $\mathcal{V} \setminus \operatorname{char}(\partial \mathcal{U})$  one has

$$\nu_H(x, y, t) = \frac{\widetilde{\mathbf{n}}_H(x, y, t)}{\|\widetilde{\mathbf{n}}_H(x, y, t)\|}.$$

This proves (i). Moreover, up to the sign,  $\operatorname{div}_H \widetilde{\mathbf{n}}_H$  equals the trace of the Hessian of  $f_i$ , hence it is locally bounded and (ii) follows.

Finally, we prove (iii). For any j, k = 1, ..., n, one has

$$\frac{1}{2}\partial_{x_{j}}\|\widetilde{\mathbf{n}}_{H}\|^{2} = \sum_{k=1}^{n} \left(\frac{y_{k}}{2} + \partial_{x_{k}}f\right) \partial_{x_{j}x_{k}}^{2} f + \sum_{k=1}^{n} \left(\frac{x_{k}}{2} - \partial_{y_{k}}f\right) \left(\frac{\delta_{k}^{j}}{2} - \partial_{x_{j}y_{k}}^{2}f\right) \\
= \sum_{k=1}^{n} \left(\frac{y_{k}}{2} + \partial_{x_{k}}f\right) \partial_{x_{j}x_{k}}^{2} f - \sum_{k=1}^{n} \left(\frac{x_{k}}{2} - \partial_{y_{k}}f\right) \partial_{x_{j}y_{k}}^{2} f - \frac{1}{2}\partial_{y_{j}}f + \frac{x_{j}}{4} \\
= O(\|\widetilde{\mathbf{n}}_{H}\|^{2}) - \frac{1}{2}\partial_{y_{j}}f + \frac{x_{j}}{4}.$$

Analogously, it turns out that

$$\frac{1}{2}\partial_{y_j}\|\widetilde{\mathbf{n}}_H\|^2 = O(\|\widetilde{\mathbf{n}}_H\|^2) + \frac{1}{2}\partial_{x_j}f + \frac{y_j}{4}.$$

Therefore, we get

$$\frac{1}{2}\langle \widetilde{\mathbf{n}}_{H}, \nabla_{H} \| \widetilde{\mathbf{n}}_{H} \|^{2} \rangle = \langle \widetilde{\mathbf{n}}_{H}, \overrightarrow{O}(\|\widetilde{\mathbf{n}}_{H}\|^{2}) \rangle - \sum_{j} \frac{x_{j}}{4} \left( \frac{y_{j}}{2} + \partial_{x_{j}} f \right) + \sum_{j} \frac{y_{j}}{4} \left( \frac{x_{j}}{2} - \partial_{y_{j}} f \right) \\
+ \sum_{j} \frac{1}{2} \partial_{y_{j}} f \left( \frac{y_{j}}{2} + \partial_{x_{j}} f \right) + \sum_{j} \frac{1}{2} \partial_{x_{j}} f \left( \frac{x_{j}}{2} - \partial_{y_{j}} f \right) \\
= \langle \widetilde{\mathbf{n}}_{H}, \overrightarrow{O}(\|\widetilde{\mathbf{n}}_{H}\|^{2}) \rangle \\
= O(\|\widetilde{\mathbf{n}}_{H}\|^{3}),$$

as wished.

We conclude this subsection with the following Ehrling-type inequality.

**Theorem 3.9.** Let  $\mathcal{U} \subsetneq \mathbb{H}^n$  be a bounded open set of class  $\mathbb{C}^2$  satisfying condition (H). Then, for any  $\delta > 0$  there exists  $C(\delta) > 0$  such that

$$\|\mathcal{T}u\|_{L^2(\partial \mathcal{U}, d\sigma_H)} \le \delta \|\nabla_H u\|_{L^2(\mathcal{U})} + C(\delta) \|u\|_{L^2(\mathcal{U})}$$

for any  $u \in \mathbf{C}^1(\overline{\mathcal{U}})$ . In particular, it follows from Theorem 3.7 that the map

$$\mathcal{T}: W_H^{1,2}(\mathcal{U}) \to L^2(\partial \mathcal{U}, d\sigma_H)$$

is compact.

*Proof.* Let  $\nu_H^{\tau} := \frac{\tilde{n}_H}{\sqrt{\tau^2 + \|\tilde{n}_H\|^2}}$ , where  $\tau \in \mathbb{R}$ . By Lemma 3.8 we have

$$\int_{\partial \mathcal{U}} |u|^2 d\sigma_H = \int_{\partial \mathcal{U}} |u|^2 \left\langle \frac{\widetilde{\mathbf{n}}_H}{\|\widetilde{\mathbf{n}}_H\|}, \nu_H \right\rangle d\sigma_H$$

$$= \lim_{\tau \to 0} \int_{\partial \mathcal{U}} |u|^2 \left\langle \nu_H^{\tau}, \nu_H \right\rangle d\sigma_H$$

$$= \lim_{\tau \to 0} \int_{\mathcal{U}} \operatorname{div}_H(|u|^2 \nu_H^{\tau}) dV.$$

On the other hand

$$\int_{\mathcal{U}} \operatorname{div}_{H}(|u|^{2} \nu_{H}^{\tau}) dV = 2 \int_{\mathcal{U}} \langle u \nabla_{H} u, \nu_{H}^{\tau} \rangle dV + \int_{\mathcal{U}} |u|^{2} \operatorname{div}_{H}(\nu_{H}^{\tau}) dV =: I_{1} + I_{2}.$$

By using (ii) and (iii) we get that

$$I_{2} = \int_{\mathcal{U}} |u|^{2} \frac{\operatorname{div}_{H} \widetilde{\mathbf{n}}_{H}}{\sqrt{\tau^{2} + \|\widetilde{\mathbf{n}}_{H}\|^{2}}} dV - \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathcal{U}} |u|^{2} \left\langle \widetilde{\mathbf{n}}_{H}, \frac{\nabla_{H} \|\widetilde{\mathbf{n}}_{H}\|^{2}}{(\tau^{2} + \|\widetilde{\mathbf{n}}_{H}\|^{2})^{3/2}} \right\rangle dV$$

$$\leq C \int_{\mathcal{U}} |u|^{2} dV.$$

Moreover

$$I_1 \le 2C \int_{\mathcal{U}} |u\nabla_H u| \, dV \le \delta \int_{\mathcal{U}} |\nabla_H u|^2 \, dV + \frac{C^2}{\delta} \int_{\mathcal{U}} |u|^2 \, dV,$$

completing the proof of the theorem.

## 4. Kähler geometry $\mathbb{H}^n$

4.1. Basic notions of Kähler geometry in  $\mathbb{H}^n$ . We first introduce the Kählerian structures of  $\mathbb{H}^n$  in order to make some explicit computations and then recall some lemmata from [40] that will be used in sequel.

Notice preliminarily that we can always identify the base manifold of the n-th Heisenberg group  $\mathbb{H}^n$  with  $\mathbb{C}^n \times \mathbb{R}$ , so that any point  $p = (x, y, t) \in \mathbb{H}^n$  is seen as a couple (z, t), where  $z = (z_1, ..., z_k, ..., z_n) \in \mathbb{C}^n$  and  $z_k = x_k + iy_k$  for any k = 1, ..., n. Let J be the unique endomorphism of  $\mathfrak{h}_1$  ("almost complex structure") such that

$$J^2 = -\operatorname{Id}, \quad d\vartheta(Z_1, JZ_2) = -d\vartheta(JZ_1, Z_2)$$

for all horizontal vector fields  $Z_1, Z_2 \in \bigwedge_1 \mathfrak{h}_1$  (in particular, one has  $Y_i = JX_i$  and  $X_i = -JY_i$  for any i = 1, ..., n).

It is not difficult to check that the inner product  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$  that we have fixed in  $\mathfrak{h}_1$  is precisely the Riemannian metric compatible with both the almost complex structure J and the symplectic form  $d\theta$ , since

$$d\theta(Z_1, Z_2) = \langle Z_1, JZ_2 \rangle$$
.

In particular, one has  $J^* = -J$ , and hence  $\langle JZ_1, JZ_2 \rangle = \langle Z_1, Z_2 \rangle$  for any  $Z_1, Z_2 \in \bigwedge_1 \mathfrak{h}_1$ .

It is standard that an almost complex structure J induces a bigrading on  $\bigwedge_1 \mathfrak{h}_1 \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{C}$  (i.e., the complexified horizontal subspace); see [33], p. 27. Thus, we have  $\bigwedge_1 \mathfrak{h}_1 \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{C} = \bigwedge_{1,0} \mathfrak{h}_1 \oplus \bigwedge_{0,1} \mathfrak{h}_1$ . This bigrading naturally extends to the complex of horizontal differential forms; see [40]. In particular, we have  $\Omega_H^h \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{C} = \sum_{p+q=h} \Omega_H^{p,q}$ , where we remark that  $\overline{\Omega_H^{p,q}} = \Omega_H^{q,p}$ . The (real) inner product on  $\bigwedge_1 \mathfrak{h}_1$  extends in the obvious way to a (complex valued) Hermitian inner product on the complexification  $\bigwedge_1 \mathfrak{h}_1 \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{C}$ , still denoted as  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ . Clearly, one has  $\langle av, bw \rangle = a\bar{b}\langle v, w \rangle$  for every  $v, w \in \bigwedge_1 \mathfrak{h}_1$  and every  $a, b \in \mathbb{C}$ . We now set

$$Z_k := \frac{X_k - iY_k}{\sqrt{2}}, \qquad Z_{\overline{k}} := \frac{X_k + iY_k}{\sqrt{2}} \left( = \overline{Z_k} \right) \qquad \forall k = 1, ..., n.$$

The family of (complex) horizontal vector fields  $\{Z_1, Z_{\overline{1}}, ..., Z_n, Z_{\overline{n}}\}$  turns out to be an orthonormal basis of  $\bigwedge_1 \mathfrak{h}_1 \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{C}$  (w.r.t. the Hermitian inner product induced on the complexified horizontal subspace). Thus we set product induced on the complexified horizontal subspace). Thus we set  $\theta^k := Z_k^\#$ ,  $\theta^{\overline{k}} := Z_{\overline{k}}^\#$ , and hence, by duality, we get that  $\{\theta^1, \theta^{\overline{1}}, ..., \theta^n, \theta^{\overline{n}}\}$  is an orthonormal basis of  $\bigwedge^1 \mathfrak{h}_1 \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{C} = \bigwedge^{1,0} \mathfrak{h}_1 \oplus \bigwedge^{0,1} \mathfrak{h}_1$ . We notice explicitly that  $\theta^k = Z_k^\# = \frac{dz_k}{\sqrt{2}} = \frac{dx_k + idy_k}{\sqrt{2}}$  and  $\theta^{\overline{k}} = Z_{\overline{k}}^\# = \frac{d\overline{z}_k}{\sqrt{2}} = \frac{dx_k - idy_k}{\sqrt{2}}$ . It is easy to see that  $JZ_k = iZ_k$  and  $JZ_{\overline{k}} = -iZ_{\overline{k}}$ . Denoting still by J the operator induced by J on differential forms, we have

$$J\alpha = i^{p-q}\alpha \qquad \forall \, \alpha \in \Omega^{p,q}_H,$$

and if  $\Pi^{p,q}:\Omega^h_H\otimes_{\mathbb R}\mathbb C\to\Omega^{p,q}_H$  is the natural projection, we get

$$J = \sum_{p+q=h} i^{p-q} \ \Pi^{p,q} \quad \text{on} \quad \Omega^h_H;$$

see [33], Definition 1.2.10.

**Definition 4.1.** On complex functions we set  $\partial_k := Z_k$  and  $\partial_{\overline{k}} := Z_{\overline{k}}$  for any k = 1, ..., n. If  $u = \sum_{I} u_{I,J} \theta^{I} \wedge \theta^{\bar{J}}$ , we set:

$$\partial_k u := \sum_{I,J} (Z_k u_{I,J}) \theta^I \wedge \theta^{\bar{J}} \quad \text{and} \quad \partial_{\overline{k}} u := \sum_{I,J} (Z_{\overline{k}} u_{I,J}) \theta^I \wedge \theta^{\bar{J}},$$

$$e_k u = \theta^k \wedge u \quad \text{and} \quad e_{\overline{k}} u = \theta^{\overline{k}} \wedge u,$$
  
 $i_k := i_{Z_k} \quad \text{and} \quad i_{\overline{k}} := i_{Z_{\overline{k}}},$ 

 $i_k:=i_{Z_k}\quad\text{and}\quad i_{\overline{k}}^{\cdot\cdot}:=i_{Z_{\overline{k}}},$  for any k=1,...,n. In Kähler coordinates, it turns out that

$$L = i \sum_{k=1}^{n} e_k e_{\overline{k}}$$
 and  $\Lambda = i \sum_{k=1}^{n} i_k i_{\overline{k}};$ 

see Definition 2.7.

Just as in [40], p. 294, we can prove the following result.

**Proposition 4.2.** Let  $1 \le p, q \le n$ . We have

$$\sum_{k=1}^{n} e_k i_k = p \operatorname{Id} \quad on \quad \Omega^{p,q} \qquad and \qquad \sum_{k=1}^{n} e_{\bar{k}} i_{\bar{k}} = q \operatorname{Id} \quad on \quad \Omega^{p,q}.$$

As a consequence

$$\sum_{k=1}^{n} e_k i_k = \sum_{p=1}^{n} p \Pi^{p,q} \qquad and \qquad \sum_{k=1}^{n} e_{\bar{k}} i_{\bar{k}} = \sum_{q=1}^{n} q \Pi^{p,q}.$$

Again, one has  $\Lambda = L^*$  (w.r.t. the Hermitian inner product). We use the decomposition

$$(10) d_H := d_H^{1,0} + d_H^{0,1},$$

where  $d_H^{1,0}:\Omega_H^{p,q}\to\Omega_H^{p+1,q}$  and  $d_H^{0,1}:\Omega_H^{p,q}\to\Omega_H^{p,q+1}$ . Moreover, for notational simplicity, we write  $\partial:=d_H^{1,0}$  and  $\overline{\partial}:=d_H^{0,1}$ , so that (10) reads as:

$$d_H = \partial + \overline{\partial}.$$

We stress that if  $u \in \Omega^0$ , then

(11) 
$$\|\bar{\partial}u\|^2 + \|\partial u\|^2 = \|\nabla_H u\|^2.$$

Furthermore, on complex functions one has

$$\partial_k := i_k \partial$$
 and  $\partial_{\overline{k}} := i_{\overline{k}} \overline{\partial}$  for every  $k = 1, ..., n$ .

In the sequel, we shall need the multi-index notation. More precisely, let I,J be multi-indices such that  $p_I:=|I|$  and  $q_J:=|J|$  (with  $p_I,q_J\leq n$ ), so that we can assume that  $I=(i_1,...,i_{p_I})$  and  $J=(j_1,...,j_{q_J})$ . Set now  $\theta^I:=\theta^{i_1}\wedge....\wedge\theta^{i_{p_I}}$  and  $\theta^{\bar{J}}:=\theta^{\bar{j}_1}\wedge....\wedge\theta^{\bar{j}_{q_J}}$ . We observe that if  $h=p_I+q_J$ , the elements  $\theta^I\wedge\theta^{\bar{J}}$  form a basis of  $\Omega^h_H\otimes_{\mathbb{R}}\mathbb{C}$ . Hence, using Kähler coordinates, any  $u\in\Omega^h_H\otimes_{\mathbb{R}}\mathbb{C}$  can be uniquely written as  $u=\sum_I u_{I,J}\theta^I\wedge\theta^{\bar{J}},\,|I|=p_I,\,|J|=q_J$ , with  $h=p_I+q_J$ . Finally, we set

$$d_H^J := J^{-1} d_H J, \qquad \delta_H^J := J^{-1} \delta_H J.$$

It is not difficult to see that the following identities hold:

(12) 
$$d_H^J = J^{-1}d_H J = -i(\partial - \overline{\partial}), \qquad \delta_H^J = J^{-1}\delta_H J = i(\partial^* - \overline{\partial}^*),$$

where  $\partial^*$  and  $\overline{\partial}^*$  denote the  $L^2$ -formal adjoints of the operators  $\partial$  and  $\overline{\partial}$ , respectively.

The calculation below can be found, for instance, in [40].

**Lemma 4.3.** On complex functions the following chain of identities holds:

$$i n T = \sum_{k=1}^{n} \partial_k \partial_{\overline{k}} - \partial_{\overline{k}} \partial_k = -\left(\sum_{k=1}^{n} \partial_{\overline{k}} i_k \partial\right) - \left(-\sum_{k=1}^{n} \partial_k i_{\overline{k}} \overline{\partial}\right)$$
$$= \partial^* \partial - \overline{\partial}^* \overline{\partial}.$$

In the next lemma we recall the so-called *Kähler identities*; see, e.g., Proposition 3.1.12 in [33].

**Lemma 4.4.** We have  $[\Lambda, \overline{\partial}] = i\overline{\partial}^*$  and  $[\Lambda, \overline{\partial}] = -i \partial^*$ . These identities in turn imply that  $[\partial^*, L] = -i\overline{\partial}$ .

For the next proposition, see, for instance, either formula (8) in [40], or [49], pp. 41-43.

**Proposition 4.5.** The following identities hold:

- (i)  $[\Lambda, d_H] = -\delta_H^J$ ;
- (ii)  $[\Lambda, d_H^J] = \delta_H;$ (iii)  $[\Lambda, \delta_H^J] = 0.$
- 4.2. Kähler geometry of domains in  $\mathbb{H}^n$ . In Kähler coordinates, we have

$$\mathbf{n}_H \equiv \mathbf{n}_H^\# = \sum_{k=1}^n \left( \mathbf{n}_k \theta^k + \mathbf{n}_{\overline{k}} \theta^{\overline{k}} \right) = \mathbf{n}_H^{1,0} + \mathbf{n}_H^{0,1},$$

where  $\mathbf{n}_H^{1,0} := \sum_{k=1}^n \mathbf{n}_k \theta_k$  and  $\mathbf{n}_H^{0,1} := \sum_{k=1}^n \mathbf{n}_{\overline{k}} \theta_{\overline{k}}$ . Accordingly, we set

$$\nu_H^{1,0} := \frac{\mathbf{n}_H^{1,0}}{\|\mathbf{n}_H\|} \quad \text{and} \quad \nu_H^{0,1} := \frac{\mathbf{n}_H^{0,1}}{\|\mathbf{n}_H\|}.$$

The operators  $\partial$  and  $\overline{\partial}$ , and their adjoints  $\partial^*$  and  $\overline{\partial}^*$ , satisfy the following integration by parts formulas:

(13) 
$$\int_{\mathcal{U}} \langle \partial \alpha, \beta \rangle \, dV = \int_{\mathcal{U}} \langle \alpha, \partial^* \beta \rangle \, dV + \int_{\partial \mathcal{U}} \left\langle \mathbf{n}_H^{1,0} \wedge \alpha, \beta \right\rangle \, d\sigma \\
= \int_{\mathcal{U}} \langle \alpha, \partial^* \beta \rangle \, dV + \int_{\partial \mathcal{U}} \left\langle \nu_H^{1,0} \wedge \alpha, \beta \right\rangle \, d\sigma_H$$

for every  $\alpha \in \Omega^{p-1,q}_H$ ,  $\beta \in \Omega^{p,q}_H$ , and

$$\int_{\mathcal{U}} \left\langle \overline{\partial} \alpha, \beta \right\rangle dV = \int_{\mathcal{U}} \left\langle \alpha, \overline{\partial}^* \beta \right\rangle dV + \int_{\partial \mathcal{U}} \left\langle \mathbf{n}_H^{0,1} \wedge \alpha, \beta \right\rangle d\sigma 
= \int_{\mathcal{U}} \left\langle \alpha, \overline{\partial}^* \beta \right\rangle dV + \int_{\partial \mathcal{U}} \left\langle \nu_H^{0,1} \wedge \alpha, \beta \right\rangle d\sigma_H$$
(14)

for every  $\alpha \in \Omega_H^{p,q-1}$ ,  $\beta \in \Omega_H^{p,q}$ ; see, e.g., [39], Ch. 3. More generally, all these formulas hold when  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  are horizontal differential forms of class  $\mathbf{C}^1$  on  $\overline{\mathcal{U}}$  (i.e.,  $\alpha \in \mathbf{C}^1(\overline{\mathcal{U}}, \bigwedge^{p-1,q} \mathfrak{h}_1 \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{C}), \beta \in \mathbf{C}^1(\overline{\mathcal{U}}, \bigwedge^{p,q} \mathfrak{h}_1 \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{C})$ ).

- 5. Boundary conditions and estimates of the boundary terms
- 5.1. Horizontal Dirichlet integral. Let  $\mathcal{U} \subsetneq \mathbb{H}^n$  be a domain with smooth boundary of class  $\mathbb{C}^2$ . Below, we introduce the notion of horizontal Dirichlet integral.

**Definition 5.1.** Let either  $u \in \Omega_H^h(\overline{\mathcal{U}})$  or  $u \in \Omega_H^h(\overline{\mathcal{U}}) \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{C}$  be a differential h-form, with  $0 \le h \le 2n$ . We define the horizontal Dirichlet integral as

$$D_H(u) := \int_{\mathcal{U}} \left( \langle d_H u, d_H u \rangle + \langle \delta_H u, \delta_H u \rangle \right) \, dV.$$

Furthermore, if  $1 \le h < n$ , we set

$$D_H^J(u) := D_H(u) - \frac{1}{n-h+1} D_H(Ju).$$

The main aim of this section is to write the horizontal Dirichlet integral of u as the L<sup>2</sup>-norm of  $\nabla_H u$  up to an error that will be estimated later in Sections 5.2 and 5.3.

**Proposition 5.2** (see [40], Proposition 2). We have

$$\Delta_H = \Delta_K - i \sum_{k=1}^n \left( e_k i_k - e_{\bar{k}} i_{\bar{k}} \right) \mathcal{L}_T.$$

In particular, if  $u = \sum_{I,J} u_{I,J} \theta^I \wedge \theta^{\bar{J}} \in \Omega^h_H(\overline{\mathcal{U}}) \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{C}$ , with  $|I| = p_I$ ,  $|J| = q_J$ , and  $h = p_I + q_J$ , then

$$\Delta_H u = \sum_{I,J} (\Delta_H u_{I,J}) \theta^I \wedge \theta^{\bar{J}},$$

where

$$\Delta_H u_{I,J} = \Delta_K u_{I,J} - i(p_I - q_J) T u_{I,J}.$$

**Proposition 5.3.** Let  $u \in \Omega_H^h(\overline{U}) \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{C}$ , with  $0 \le h \le 2n$ . Then

(15) 
$$D_H(u) = \int_{\mathcal{U}} \langle \Delta_H u, u \rangle \, dV + \int_{\partial \mathcal{U}} \left( \langle d_H u, \mathbf{n}_H \wedge u \rangle - \langle \delta_H u, \mathbf{n}_H \perp u \rangle \right) \, d\sigma.$$

In addition, if  $u = \sum_{I,J} u_{I,J} \theta^I \wedge \theta^{\bar{J}}$ , then

(16) 
$$\int_{\mathcal{U}} \langle \Delta_H u, u \rangle \, dV = \int_{\mathcal{U}} \|\nabla_H u\|^2 \, dV - \sum_{I,J} \int_{\partial \mathcal{U}} \langle d_H u_{I,J}, \mathbf{n}_H \rangle \bar{u}_{I,J} \, d\sigma - i \sum_{I,J} (p_I - q_J) \int_{\mathcal{U}} \bar{u}_{I,J} T u_{I,J} \, dV.$$

*Proof.* Assertion (15) is just an integration by parts. We have to prove (16). Keeping in mind that, if  $v \in \mathbf{C}^1(\overline{\mathcal{U}})$  is a (real or complex) 0-form we have

$$\int_{\mathcal{U}} \langle \Delta_K v, v \rangle \, dV = \int_{\mathcal{U}} \langle d_H v, d_H v \rangle \, dV - \int_{\partial \mathcal{U}} \bar{v} \langle d_H v, \mathbf{n}_H \rangle,$$

we compute

$$\int_{\mathcal{U}} \langle \Delta_{H} u, u \rangle \, dV = \sum_{I,J} \int_{\mathcal{U}} \bar{u}_{I,J} \Delta_{H} u_{I,J} \, dV$$

$$= \sum_{I,J} \int_{\mathcal{U}} \langle d_{H} u_{I,J} d_{H} u_{I,J} \rangle \, dV - \int_{\partial \mathcal{U}} \langle d_{H} u_{I,J}, \mathbf{n}_{H} \rangle \bar{u}_{I,J} \, d\sigma$$

$$-i \sum_{I,J} (p_{I} - q_{J}) \int_{\mathcal{U}} \bar{u}_{I,J} T u_{I,J} \, dV$$

$$= \sum_{I,J} \int_{\mathcal{U}} \|\nabla_{H} u_{I,J}\|^{2} \, dV - \int_{\partial \mathcal{U}} \langle d_{H} u_{I,J}, \mathbf{n}_{H} \rangle \bar{u}_{I,J} \, d\sigma$$

$$-i \sum_{I,J} (p_{I} - q_{J}) \int_{\mathcal{U}} \bar{u}_{I,J} T u_{I,J} \, dV$$

$$= \int_{\mathcal{U}} \|\nabla_{H} u\|^{2} dV - \sum_{I,J} \int_{\partial \mathcal{U}} \langle d_{H} u_{I,J}, \mathbf{n}_{H} \rangle \bar{u}_{I,J} d\sigma$$
$$-i \sum_{I,J} (p_{I} - q_{J}) \int_{\mathcal{U}} \bar{u}_{I,J} T u_{I,J} dV.$$

Remark 5.4. Let us consider the following boundary integral

$$\int_{\partial \mathcal{U}} f(u, \nabla_H u, \mathbf{n}_H) d\sigma,$$

where  $u \in \Omega_H^h(\overline{\mathcal{U}}) \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{C}$  and f is a (real-valued) continuous function that is linear in the third argument  $n_H$ . Let  $\mathcal{V}_{\epsilon} \subset \partial \mathcal{U}$  be a family of open neighborhoods of  $\operatorname{char}(\partial \mathcal{U})$  shrinking around  $\operatorname{char}(\partial \mathcal{U})$  as long as  $\epsilon \to 0$ ; in particular, we assume that  $\mathcal{V}_{\epsilon_1} \subsetneq \mathcal{V}_{\epsilon_2}$  if  $\epsilon_1 < \epsilon_2$  and that  $\sigma(\mathcal{V}_{\epsilon}) \to 0$  as  $\epsilon \to 0$  (by Remark 2.11 we already know that  $\sigma(\operatorname{char}(\partial \mathcal{U})) = 0 = \sigma_H(\operatorname{char}(\partial \mathcal{U}))$ .

By recalling that  $d\sigma_H = \|\mathbf{n}_H\| d\sigma$  and that outside  $\operatorname{char}(\partial \mathcal{U})$  we have  $\nu_H = \frac{\mathbf{n}_H}{\|\mathbf{n}_H\|}$ , we get

$$\int_{\partial \mathcal{U}} f(u, \nabla_H u, \mathbf{n}_H) d\sigma = \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \int_{\partial \mathcal{U} \setminus \mathcal{V}_{\epsilon}} f(u, \nabla_H u, \mathbf{n}_H) d\sigma$$

$$= \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \int_{\partial \mathcal{U} \setminus \mathcal{V}_{\epsilon}} f(u, \nabla_H u, \nu_H) d\sigma_H$$

$$=: \int_{\partial \mathcal{U} \setminus \text{char}(\partial \mathcal{U})} f(u, \nabla_H u, \nu_H) d\sigma_H.$$

Combining Proposition 5.3 and Remark 5.4 we get the following corollary.

Corollary 5.5. Let  $u \in \Omega^h_H(\overline{\mathcal{U}}) \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{C}$ , with  $0 \le h \le 2n$ , and let us set

$$\mathbf{A} := \int_{\partial \mathcal{U} \setminus \operatorname{char}(\partial \mathcal{U})} \left( -\sum_{I,J} \langle d_H u_{I,J}, \nu_H \rangle \bar{u}_{I,J} + \left( \langle d_H u, \nu_H \wedge u \rangle - \langle \delta_H u, \nu_H \sqcup u \rangle \right) \right) d\sigma_H,$$

and

$$\mathbf{B} := i \sum_{I,J} (p_I - q_J) \int_{\mathcal{U}} \bar{u}_{I,J} T u_{I,J} \, dV = i \left\langle \mathcal{L}_T u, \sum_{k=1}^n (e_k i_k - e_{\bar{k}} i_{\bar{k}}) u \right\rangle.$$

Then, we have

(17) 
$$D_H(u) = \int_{\mathcal{U}} \|\nabla_H u\|^2 dV + \mathbf{A} - \mathbf{B} = \int_{\mathcal{U}} \|\nabla_H u\|^2 dV + \Re \mathbf{A} - \Re \mathbf{B}.$$

5.2. Estimate of the term A in (17). The aim of this subsection is to show that we can write

$$\mathbf{A} = -\int_{\partial \mathcal{U} \setminus \operatorname{char}(\partial \mathcal{U})} (\langle d_H u_{\nu_H}, u_{\mathsf{t}} \rangle + \langle \delta_H u_{\mathsf{t}}, u_{\nu_H} \rangle) \, d\sigma_H + \text{"error term"},$$

and to provide sufficient conditions on the traces of u on the boundary  $\partial \mathcal{U}$ that guarantee that

$$\int_{\partial \mathcal{U} \setminus \text{char}(\partial \mathcal{U})} (\langle d_H u_{\nu_H}, u_{\mathsf{t}} \rangle + \langle \delta_H u_{\mathsf{t}}, u_{\nu_H} \rangle) \, d\sigma_H = 0;$$

see Proposition 5.11 below.

**Definition 5.6** (The maps  $R_1, R_2$ ). Let  $\mathcal{U} \subsetneq \mathbb{H}^n$  be a domain of class  $\mathbb{C}^2$ , let  $\mu_H \in \mathbf{C}^1(\overline{\mathcal{U}}, \bigwedge^1 \mathfrak{h}_1 \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{C})$ , with  $0 \leq h \leq 2n$ . We define the maps

$$R_1, R_2: \mathbf{C}^0(\overline{\mathcal{U}}, \bigwedge^h \mathfrak{h}_1 \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{C}) \longrightarrow \mathbf{C}^0(\overline{\mathcal{U}}, \bigwedge^h \mathfrak{h}_1 \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{C})$$

by setting

(18) 
$$R_1(u) \equiv R_1^{\mu_H}(u) := \sum_{I,J} u_{I,J} d_H \left( \mu_H \, \rfloor \left( \theta^I \wedge \theta^{\bar{J}} \right) \right),$$

(19) 
$$R_2(u) \equiv R_2^{\mu_H}(u) := \sum_{I,J} u_{I,J} \delta_H \left( \mu_H \wedge \left( \theta^I \wedge \theta^{\bar{J}} \right) \right),$$

where  $u = \sum_{I,J} u_{I,J} \theta^I \wedge \theta^{\bar{J}}$ ,  $|I| = p_I$ ,  $|J| = q_J$ , and  $h = p_I + q_J$ . We also set  $R_1^{\mu_H}(u) = 0$  if h = 0 and  $R_2^{\mu_H}(u) = 0$  if h = 2n.

Notice that these maps are both linear in u and  $\mu_H$ . The preceding definition is inspired by [15]; see Definition 5.1, p. 103. As a matter of fact, these maps turn out to be very useful because of well-known properties of the Lie derivative and, in particular, of Cartan's formula and of its dual version.

Remark 5.7. Let  $u = \sum_{I,J} u_{I,J} \theta^I \wedge \theta^{\bar{J}}$ . By using Cartan's formula and its dual version we get:

(i) 
$$\mathcal{L}_{\mu_H}(u) = \mu_H \perp d_H u + d_H(\mu_H \perp u)$$

(i) 
$$\mathcal{L}_{\mu_H}(u) = \mu_H \, \rfloor \, d_H u + d_H(\mu_H \, \rfloor \, u);$$
  
(ii)  $\mathcal{L}_{\mu_H}(u) := (-1)^{h(2n-h)} *_H \mathcal{L}_{\mu_H}(*_H u) = -\mu_H \wedge \delta_H u - \delta_H(\mu_H \wedge u).$ 

In particular, one obtains  $R_2^{\mu_H}(u) = (-1)^{h(2n-h)} *_H R_1^{\mu_H}(*_H u)$ .

In addition, we have:

(iii) 
$$\mathcal{L}_{\mu_H}(u) = \sum_{I,J} \langle d_H u_{I,J}, \mu_H \rangle \theta^I \wedge \theta^{\bar{J}} + R_1^{\mu_H}(u);$$

(iv) 
$$\widetilde{\mathcal{L}_{\mu_H}}(u) = \sum_{I,J} \langle d_H u_{I,J}, \mu_H \rangle \theta^I \wedge \theta^{\bar{J}} + R_2^{\mu_H}(u)$$
.

Hence, we get the following identities:

(20) 
$$\sum_{I,J} \langle d_H u_{I,J}, \mu_H \rangle \theta^I \wedge \theta^{\bar{J}} = \mu_H \perp d_H u + d_H (\mu_H \perp u) - R_1^{\mu_H}(u)$$
$$= -\mu_H \wedge \delta_H u - \delta_H (\mu_H \wedge u) - R_2^{\mu_H}(u).$$

All these formulas can be checked by direct computations, exactly as in the Euclidean case for which we refer the reader to Ch. 5 of [15].

If in Remark 5.7 we take  $\mu_H = \nu_H$ , we obtain the following result.

**Lemma 5.8.** Let  $u = \sum_{I,J} u_{I,J} \theta^I \wedge \theta^{\bar{J}}$ . Then

(21) 
$$\sum_{I,J} \bar{u}_{I,J} \langle d_H u_{I,J}, \nu_H \rangle + \langle R_1^{\nu_H}(u), u_{t} \rangle + \langle R_2^{\nu_H}(u), \nu_H \wedge u_{\nu_H} \rangle$$
$$= \langle \nu_H \perp d_H u, u_{t} \rangle - \langle \delta_H u, u_{\nu_H} \rangle + \langle d_H u_{\nu_H}, u_{t} \rangle$$
$$- \langle \delta_H (\nu_H \wedge u_{t}), \nu_H \wedge u_{\nu_H} \rangle$$

at each point of  $\partial \mathcal{U} \setminus \text{char}(\partial \mathcal{U})$ .

Proof. Using Remark 5.7 yields

(22) 
$$\langle \mathcal{L}_{\nu_H} u, u_t \rangle = \langle \nu_H \, \rfloor \, du, u_t \rangle + \langle du_{\nu_H}, u_t \rangle = \langle \nu_H \, \rfloor \, d_H u, u_t \rangle + \langle d_H u_{\nu_H}, u_t \rangle .$$

Analogously, one has

(23) 
$$\left\langle \widetilde{\mathcal{L}_{\nu_{H}}} u, \nu_{H} \wedge u_{\nu_{H}} \right\rangle$$

$$= -\left( \left\langle \nu_{H} \wedge \delta_{H} u, \nu_{H} \wedge u_{\nu_{H}} \right\rangle + \left\langle \delta_{H} \left( \nu_{H} \wedge u \right), \nu_{H} \wedge u_{\nu_{H}} \right\rangle \right)$$

$$= -\left( \left\langle \delta_{H} u, u_{\nu_{H}} \right\rangle + \left\langle \delta_{H} \left( \nu_{H} \wedge u_{t} \right), \nu_{H} \wedge u_{\nu_{H}} \right\rangle \right).$$

Adding the left-hand sides of (22) and (23) and then using Remark 5.7 (see, in particular, formula (20)) yields

$$\langle \mathcal{L}_{\nu_H} u, u_{t} \rangle + \left\langle \widetilde{\mathcal{L}_{\nu_H}} u, \nu_H \wedge u_{\nu_H} \right\rangle$$

$$= \sum_{I,J} \bar{u}_{I,J} \langle d_H u_{I,J}, \nu_H \rangle + \langle R_1^{\nu_H}(u), u_{t} \rangle + \langle R_2^{\nu_H}(u), \nu_H \wedge u_{\nu_H} \rangle.$$

Hence, by using (22) and (23), we deduce (21).

We also need the following result (see [15], Lemma 5.5).

**Lemma 5.9.** Let u,  $\mu_H$ ,  $R_1^{\mu_H}$  and  $R_2^{\mu_H}$  be as in Definition 5.6. Then

$$R_1^{\mu_H}(\mu_H \wedge u) = \frac{1}{2} d_H (\|\mu_H\|^2) \wedge u + \mu_H \wedge R_1^{\mu_H}(u),$$
  

$$R_2^{\mu_H}(\mu_H \perp u) = \frac{1}{2} d_H (\|\mu_H\|^2) \perp u + \mu_H \perp R_2^{\mu_H}(u).$$

The above formulas greatly simplify if we take  $\|\mu_H\| = 1$  and this can always be done, at least if both these quantities are restricted to the (non-characteristic part of the) boundary and we take  $\mu_H = \nu_H$  (i.e.,  $\mu_H$  is the horizontal unit normal to  $\partial \mathcal{U} \setminus \text{char}(\partial \mathcal{U})$ ).

Remark 5.10. For any  $\alpha \in \Omega^h_H(\overline{\mathcal{U}}) \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{C}$  the following holds on  $\partial \mathcal{U} \setminus \operatorname{char}(\partial \mathcal{U})$ :

- If  $\nu_H \wedge \alpha = 0$ , then  $\nu_H \wedge d_H \alpha = 0$ .
- If  $\nu_H \perp \alpha = 0$ , then  $\nu_H \perp \delta_H \alpha = 0$ .

These properties can be proved just as in the classical case, for which we refer to Theorem 3.23 in [15]. Thus, at each point of  $\partial \mathcal{U} \setminus \text{char}(\partial \mathcal{U})$ , we deduce that:

- If  $u_{\nu_H} = \nu_H \perp u = 0$ , then it follows that  $\nu_H \wedge (\nu_H \perp u) = 0$ . Hence  $\nu_H \wedge d_H(\nu_H \perp u) = 0$  and so  $\langle d_H u_{\nu_H}, u_{\mathsf{t}} \rangle = 0$ .
- If  $\nu_H \wedge u = 0$ , then  $u_t = \nu_H \perp (\nu_H \wedge u) = 0$ . Hence  $\nu_H \perp \delta_H(\nu_H \wedge u) = 0$  and so  $\langle \delta_H (\nu_H \wedge u_t), \nu_H \wedge u_{\nu_H} \rangle = 0$ .

We summarize the above discussion in the next proposition.

**Proposition 5.11.** Let  $u \in \Omega^h_H(\overline{U}) \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{C}$ , with  $1 \leq h \leq 2n$ . Then

(24) 
$$\mathbf{A} = -\int_{\partial \mathcal{U} \setminus \operatorname{char}(\partial \mathcal{U})} (\langle d_H u_{\nu_H}, u_{\mathsf{t}} \rangle + \langle \delta_H u_{\mathsf{t}}, u_{\nu_H} \rangle) \, d\sigma_H \\ -\int_{\partial \mathcal{U} \setminus \operatorname{char}(\partial \mathcal{U})} \left\langle \widetilde{R}(u), u \right\rangle \, d\sigma_H,$$

where

$$\left\langle \widetilde{R}(u), u \right\rangle := \left\langle R_1^{\nu_H}(u), u_{\mathrm{t}} \right\rangle + \left\langle R_2^{\nu_H}(u), \nu_H \wedge u_{\nu_H} \right\rangle.$$

In addition, the first boundary integral vanishes if

either 
$$u_t = 0$$
 or  $u_{\nu_H} = 0$  on  $\partial \mathcal{U} \setminus \text{char}(\partial \mathcal{U})$  (condition (DN))

and, in this case, we get

(25) 
$$\mathbf{A} = -\int_{\partial \mathcal{U} \setminus \operatorname{char}(\partial \mathcal{U})} \left\langle \widetilde{R}(u), u \right\rangle d\sigma_H.$$

**Therefore** 

(26) 
$$\Re \mathbf{A} = -\Re \int_{\partial \mathcal{U} \setminus \operatorname{char}(\partial \mathcal{U})} \left\langle \widetilde{R}(u), u \right\rangle d\sigma_H.$$

Obviously, if  $u_t = 0$ , then it follows that  $\widetilde{R}(u) = \langle R_2^{\nu_H}(u), u \rangle$ . Finally, if  $u_{\nu_H} = 0$ , then  $\widetilde{R}(u) = \langle R_1^{\nu_H}(u), u \rangle$ .

*Proof.* Let us start from the identity of Corollary 5.5. For what concerns the term  $\mathbf{A}$ , by using (21) and Remark 5.4, we get

$$\mathbf{A} = -\int_{\partial \mathcal{U} \setminus \operatorname{char}(\partial \mathcal{U})} \left( \sum_{I,J} \bar{u}_{I,J} \langle d_H u_{I,J}, \nu_H \rangle - \langle \nu_H \, \rfloor \, d_H u, u_{\mathsf{t}} \rangle + \langle \delta_H u, u_{\nu_H} \rangle \right) \, d\sigma_H$$

$$= -\int_{\partial \mathcal{U} \setminus \operatorname{char}(\partial \mathcal{U})} \left( \langle d_H u_{\nu_H}, u_{\mathsf{t}} \rangle - \langle \delta_H \left( \nu_H \wedge u_{\mathsf{t}} \right), \nu_H \wedge u_{\nu_H} \rangle \right) \, d\sigma_H$$

$$+ \int_{\partial \mathcal{U} \setminus \operatorname{char}(\partial \mathcal{U})} \left( \langle R_1(u), u_{\mathsf{t}} \rangle + \langle R_2(u), \nu_H \wedge u_{\nu_H} \rangle \right) \, d\sigma_H.$$

Then (24) follows since  $\delta_H (\nu_H \wedge u_t) = (\delta_H \nu_H) \wedge u_t - \nu_H \wedge \delta_H u_t$  and  $\langle (\delta_H \nu_H) \wedge u_t, \nu_H \wedge u_{\nu_H} \rangle = 0$ .

Thus using Remark 5.10 yields (25). The remaining claims easily follow.  $\Box$ 

Remark 5.12. If we look at identity (17) we see that  $\Re \mathbf{A}$  does not depend on the coordinates. In fact, by its very definition,  $\Re \mathbf{B}$  is independent of the coordinates and, in addition, a straightforward computation shows that the same assertion holds for the quantity  $D_H(u)$  and for the  $L^2$ -norm of  $\nabla_H u$ . Now, if condition (DN) holds, then both the quantities  $R_1^{\nu_H}$  and  $R_2^{\nu_H}$  are independent of the coordinates. In particular, their expressions in Kähler coordinates (18) and (19) can be replaced, when convenient, by their counterpart in different systems of coordinates.

Remark 5.13. It worth pointing out that, by Lemma 5.9 it follows that

$$\langle R_2(u), \nu_H \wedge u_{\nu_H} \rangle = \langle R_2(u_{\nu_H}), u_{\nu_H} \rangle$$
 and  $\langle R_1(u), u_{\rm t} \rangle = \langle R_1(u_{\rm t}), u_{\rm t} \rangle$ .

5.3. Estimate of the term B in (17). The aim of this subsection is to prove that we can write

$$\Re \mathbf{B} = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{I,J} (p_I - q_J) \int_{\mathcal{U}} (\|\bar{\partial} u_{I,J}\|^2 - \|\partial u_{I,J}\|^2) dV$$
$$- \frac{1}{n} \Im \int_{\partial \mathcal{U} \setminus \operatorname{char}(\partial \mathcal{U})} \left\langle \mathcal{L}_{J\nu_H} u, \sum_{k=1}^n (e_k i_k - e_{\bar{k}} i_{\bar{k}}) u \right\rangle d\sigma_H$$
$$+ \text{"error term"}.$$

At the same time, we provide sufficient conditions on the traces of u on  $\partial \mathcal{U}$  that guarantee that

$$\Im \operatorname{m} \int_{\partial \mathcal{U} \setminus \operatorname{char}(\partial \mathcal{U})} \left\langle \mathcal{L}_{J\nu_H} u, \sum_{k=1}^n (e_k i_k - e_{\bar{k}} i_{\bar{k}}) u \right\rangle = 0.$$

**Proposition 5.14.** Let  $u \in \Omega^h_H(\overline{U}) \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{C}$ , with  $1 \leq h \leq 2n$ . Then

$$\mathbf{B} = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{I,J} (p_I - q_J) \int_{\mathcal{U}} (\|\bar{\partial}u_{I,J}\|^2 - \|\partial u_{I,J}\|^2) dV$$

$$+ \frac{i}{n} \int_{\partial \mathcal{U} \setminus \operatorname{char}(\partial \mathcal{U})} \left\langle \mathcal{L}_{J\nu_H} u, \sum_{k=1}^n (e_k i_k - e_{\bar{k}} i_{\bar{k}}) u \right\rangle d\sigma_H$$

$$- \frac{i}{n} \int_{\partial \mathcal{U} \setminus \operatorname{char}(\partial \mathcal{U})} \left\langle R_1^{J\nu_H} u, \sum_{k=1}^n (e_k i_k - e_{\bar{k}} i_{\bar{k}}) u \right\rangle d\sigma_H.$$

In addition, suppose that the following "condition  $(J\nu_H)$ " holds:

$$\Im \left\langle \mathcal{L}_{J\nu_H} u, \sum_{k=1}^n e_k i_k u \right\rangle = \Im \left\langle \mathcal{L}_{J\nu_H} u, \sum_{k=1}^n e_{\bar{k}} i_{\bar{k}} u \right\rangle \quad \text{(condition } (J\nu_H)).$$

Then we have

(28) 
$$\Re \mathbf{B} = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{I,J} (p_I - q_J) \int_{\mathcal{U}} (\|\bar{\partial} u_{I,J}\|^2 - \|\partial u_{I,J}\|^2) dV + \Im \frac{1}{n} \int_{\partial \mathcal{U} \setminus \operatorname{char}(\partial \mathcal{U})} \left\langle R_1^{J\nu_H} u, \sum_{k=1}^n (e_k i_k - e_{\bar{k}} i_{\bar{k}}) u \right\rangle d\sigma_H.$$

*Proof.* Let  $v \in \mathbf{C}^1(\overline{\mathcal{U}})$  be a (complex-valued) 0-form and recall that

$$i n T = \sum_{k=1}^{n} (\partial_k \partial_{\bar{k}} - \partial_{\bar{k}} \partial_k).$$

By (13) and (14), we have

$$-i \int_{\mathcal{U}} \bar{v} T v \, dV = \frac{1}{n} \int_{\mathcal{U}} \bar{v} \sum_{k=1}^{n} (\partial_{\bar{k}} \partial_{k} - \partial_{k} \partial_{\bar{k}}) \, v \, dV$$

$$= \frac{1}{n} \int_{\mathcal{U}} \bar{v} \left( -\partial^{*} \partial + \bar{\partial}^{*} \bar{\partial} \right) v \, dV$$

$$= \frac{1}{n} \int_{\mathcal{U}} (\|\bar{\partial} v\|^{2} - \|\partial v\|^{2}) \, dV - \frac{1}{n} \int_{\partial \mathcal{U}} \left( \bar{v} \left\langle \bar{\partial} v, \mathbf{n}_{H}^{0,1} \right\rangle - \bar{v} \left\langle \partial v, \mathbf{n}_{H}^{1,0} \right\rangle \right) \, d\sigma$$

$$= \frac{1}{n} \int_{\mathcal{U}} (\|\bar{\partial}v\|^2 - \|\partial v\|^2) dV + \frac{1}{n} \int_{\partial \mathcal{U}} \bar{v} \left\langle d_H v, \left( \mathbf{n}_H^{1,0} - \mathbf{n}_H^{0,1} \right) \right\rangle d\sigma$$

$$= \frac{1}{n} \int_{\mathcal{U}} (\|\bar{\partial}v\|^2 - \|\partial v\|^2) dV + \frac{i}{n} \int_{\partial \mathcal{U}} \bar{v} \left\langle d_H v, J \mathbf{n}_H \right\rangle d\sigma,$$

where we have used the identity  $J n_H = i (n_H^{1,0} - n_H^{0,1})$ .

From these computations, by arguing as in Remark 5.4 and by applying (iii) of Remark 5.7, we get that the term **B** can be rewritten as follows:

$$\mathbf{B} = -i \sum_{I,J} (p_{I} - q_{J}) \int_{\mathcal{U}} \bar{u}_{I,J} T u_{I,J} dV$$

$$= \frac{1}{n} \sum_{I,J} (p_{I} - q_{J}) \int_{\mathcal{U}} (\|\bar{\partial}u_{I,J}\|^{2} - \|\partial u_{I,J}\|^{2}) dV$$

$$+ \frac{i}{n} \sum_{I,J} (p_{I} - q_{J}) \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \int_{\partial \mathcal{U} \setminus \mathcal{V}_{\epsilon}} \bar{u}_{I,J} \langle d_{H}u_{I,J}, J\nu_{H} \rangle d\sigma_{H}$$

$$= \frac{1}{n} \sum_{I,J} (p_{I} - q_{J}) \int_{\mathcal{U}} (\|\bar{\partial}u_{I,J}\|^{2} - \|\partial u_{I,J}\|^{2}) dV$$

$$+ \frac{i}{n} \sum_{I,J} (p_{I} - q_{J}) \int_{\partial \mathcal{U} \setminus \operatorname{char}(\partial \mathcal{U})} \bar{u}_{I,J} \langle d_{H}u_{I,J}, J\nu_{H} \rangle d\sigma_{H}$$

$$= \frac{1}{n} \sum_{I,J} (p_{I} - q_{J}) \int_{\mathcal{U}} (\|\bar{\partial}u_{I,J}\|^{2} - \|\partial u_{I,J}\|^{2}) dV$$

$$+ \frac{i}{n} \int_{\partial \mathcal{U} \setminus \operatorname{char}(\partial \mathcal{U})} \langle \mathcal{L}_{J\nu_{H}} u, \sum_{k=1}^{n} (e_{k}i_{k} - e_{\bar{k}}i_{\bar{k}}) u \rangle d\sigma_{H}$$

$$- \frac{i}{n} \int_{\partial \mathcal{U} \setminus \operatorname{char}(\partial \mathcal{U})} \langle R_{1}^{J\nu_{H}} u, \sum_{k=1}^{n} (e_{k}i_{k} - e_{\bar{k}}i_{\bar{k}}) u \rangle d\sigma_{H}.$$

This achieves the proof of the proposition.

Remark 5.15. From Remark 4.2 it follows that

$$\sum_{k=1}^{n} (e_k i_k - e_{\bar{k}} i_{\bar{k}}) = \sum_{p,q} (p-q) \Pi^{p,q}.$$

Therefore, condition  $(J\nu_H)$  turns out to be a compatibility condition on the bidegree components of the trace of u in the (tangent) direction  $J\nu_H$ .

In addition, we stress that condition  $(J\nu_H)$  is written in a "geometric" form on  $\partial \mathcal{U}$  and it could be replaced by the following condition  $(J\nu_H^*)$  that is written "in coordinates":

(29) 
$$\sum_{I,J} (p_I - q_J) \mathfrak{I} \operatorname{m} \left( \bar{u}_{I,J} \left\langle d_H u_{I,J}, J \nu_H \right\rangle \right)$$

$$= \mathfrak{I} \operatorname{m} \left\langle \partial_{J \nu_H} u, \sum_{k=1}^n (e_k i_k - e_{\bar{k}} i_{\bar{k}}) u \right\rangle = 0$$

at every point of  $\partial \mathcal{U} \setminus \text{char}(\partial \mathcal{U})$ . This alternative condition is perhaps less "elegant" but has the advantage of not introducing an error term.

Typically, identity (29) holds, if the form u is "Kähler-symmetric", i.e., if

$$\Pi^{p,q}u = \pm \Pi^{q,p}u$$
 for all  $p,q$  with  $p+q=h$ .

Below, we analyze the meaning of condition  $(J\nu_H)$  in the special case of horizontal 1-forms.

**Example 5.16** (1-forms). Let  $u = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left( u_i \theta^i + u_{\bar{i}} \theta^{\bar{i}} \right)$  be a 1-form, where we assume that  $u_i := f_i + i g_i$  for any i = 1, ..., n. Also recall that if u is real, then  $u_{\bar{i}} = \bar{u}_i$  for any i = 1, ..., n. Note that  $J\nu_H = i(\nu_H^{1,0} - \nu_H^{0,1})$  and that, in this case, we have  $p_i = 1$ ,  $q_i = 0$  and  $p_{\bar{i}} = 0$ ,  $q_{\bar{i}} = 1$ , i = 1, ..., n. With these preliminaries, we may reformulate condition  $(J\nu_H)$  as follows:

(30) 
$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} \left\langle \left( f_{i} \nabla_{H} g_{i} - g_{i} \nabla_{H} f_{i} \right), J \nu_{H} \right\rangle = \sum_{\bar{i}=1}^{n} \left\langle \left( f_{\bar{i}} \nabla_{H} g_{\bar{i}} - g_{\bar{i}} \nabla_{H} f_{\bar{i}} \right), J \nu_{H} \right\rangle.$$

The proof of (30) is an elementary exercise. In addition, we observe that if u is real, then (30) becomes

(31) 
$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} \left\langle \left( f_i \nabla_H g_i - g_i \nabla_H f_i \right), J \nu_H \right\rangle = 0$$

or, equivalently,  $\sum_{i=1}^{n} (f_i \partial_{J\nu_H} g_i - g_i \partial_{J\nu_H} f_i) = 0.$ 

By using (iv) in Remark 5.7 we obtain the following dual result.

**Proposition 5.17.** Let  $u \in \Omega^h_H(\overline{\mathcal{U}}) \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{C}$ , with  $1 \leq h \leq 2n$ . Then

(32) 
$$\mathbf{B} = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{I,J} (p_I - q_J) \int_{\mathcal{U}} (\|\bar{\partial}u_{I,J}\|^2 - \|\partial u_{I,J}\|^2) dV + \frac{i}{n} \int_{\partial \mathcal{U} \setminus \operatorname{char}(\partial \mathcal{U})} \left\langle \widetilde{\mathcal{L}_{J\nu_H}} u, \sum_{k=1}^n (e_k i_k - e_{\bar{k}} i_{\bar{k}}) u \right\rangle d\sigma_H - \frac{i}{n} \int_{\partial \mathcal{U} \setminus \operatorname{char}(\partial \mathcal{U})} \left\langle R_2^{J\nu_H} u, \sum_{k=1}^n (e_k i_k - e_{\bar{k}} i_{\bar{k}}) u \right\rangle d\sigma_H.$$

In addition, suppose the following "condition  $(\widetilde{J\nu_H})$ " holds:

$$\Im \left\langle \widetilde{\mathcal{L}_{J\nu_H}} u, \sum_{k=1}^n e_k i_k u \right\rangle = \Im \left\langle \widetilde{\mathcal{L}_{J\nu_H}} u, \sum_{k=1}^n e_{\bar{k}} i_{\bar{k}} u \right\rangle \quad \text{(condition } (\widetilde{J\nu_H})).$$

Then

(33) 
$$\Re \mathbf{B} = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{I,J} (p_I - q_J) \int_{\mathcal{U}} \left( \|\bar{\partial} u_{I,J}\|^2 - \|\partial u_{I,J}\|^2 \right) dV$$
$$- \frac{i}{n} \int_{\partial \mathcal{U} \setminus \operatorname{char}(\partial \mathcal{U})} \left\langle R_2^{J\nu_H} u, \sum_{k=1}^n (e_k i_k - e_{\bar{k}} i_{\bar{k}}) u \right\rangle d\sigma_H.$$

Remark 5.18. Just as in Remark 5.15, we observe that condition  $(J\nu_H)$  is written in a "geometric" form. Notice also that it could be replaced by

condition  $(J\nu_H^*)$ . Again, this alternative condition has the advantage of not introducing an error term.

6. Gaffney-Friedrichs-type inequalities for horizontal forms
We state now the first version of our main result.

**Theorem 6.1** (Gaffney-Friedrichs Inequality). Let  $\mathcal{U} \subsetneq \mathbb{H}^n$  be a domain with smooth boundary of class  $\mathbb{C}^2$ . Let  $u \in \Omega^h_H(\overline{\mathcal{U}}) \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{C}$  be a horizontal h-form with  $1 \leq h < n$ , and assume that:

- (i) u satisfies condition (DN) (see Proposition 5.11);
- (ii) u satisfies either condition  $(J\nu_H)$  (see Proposition 5.14) or condition  $(\widetilde{J}\nu_H)$  (see Proposition 5.17).

Let  $\{V_{\epsilon}\}_{\epsilon>0}$  be a family of open neighborhoods of char $(\partial \mathcal{U})$  (in the relative topology) shrinking around char $(\partial \mathcal{U})$  when  $\epsilon \to 0$ . In addition, assume that  $\sigma(V_{\epsilon}) \to 0$  as  $\epsilon \to 0$ . Then, there exist geometric constants  $C_0, C_1$  and  $C_2$  such that

(34) 
$$D_{H}(u) + C_{0} \int_{\partial \mathcal{U} \cap \mathcal{V}_{\epsilon}} \|u\|^{2} d\sigma$$

$$\geq C_{1} \int_{\mathcal{U}} \|\nabla_{H} u\|^{2} dV - C_{2} \int_{\mathcal{U}} \|u\|^{2} dV.$$

The constants  $C_0, C_1, C_2$  depend only on  $\mathcal{U}$ ,  $\epsilon$  and on the integers h and n. Furthermore, if  $u \in \Omega_H^h(\overline{\mathcal{U}}) \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{C}$  is a horizontal h-form with  $n+1 \leq h \leq 2n$ , then (34) still holds provided that  $*_H u$  satisfies (i) and (ii).

Remark 6.2. The constant  $C_2$  may blow up as  $\epsilon$  tends to  $0^+$ . Indeed, let us define the following two constants:

- $C_{1,\epsilon} := 2n \left\{ \max_{i,j=1,\dots,2n} \left( \sup_{\partial \mathcal{U} \cap \mathcal{V}_{\epsilon}} |W_j(\mathbf{n}_H)_i (\nu_H)_i W_j ||\mathbf{n}_H|| \right) \right\},$
- $C_{2,\epsilon} := \sup_{\partial \mathcal{U} \setminus \mathcal{V}_{\epsilon}} \| \mathcal{J}ac_H \nu_H \|,$

where  $\mathcal{J}ac_H\nu_H = [W_j(\nu_H)_i]_{i,j=1,\dots,2n}$  denotes the horizontal Jacobian matrix of the unit horizontal normal  $\nu_H$ . Since  $\mathbf{n}_H$  is of class  $\mathbf{C}^1$ , the constant  $C_{1,\epsilon}$  turns out to be globally bounded along  $\partial \mathcal{U}$ . On the other hand, we have  $C_{2,\epsilon} = O\left(\frac{1}{\|\mathbf{n}_H\|}\right)$ , and hence  $C_{2,\epsilon}$  may diverge when  $\epsilon \to 0^+$  (since  $\|\mathbf{n}_H\| \to 0^+$  as  $\epsilon \to 0^+$ ). Below, we shall prove the result with the constants

$$C_0 := C_{dim} \cdot C_{1,\epsilon}, \quad C_1 := \frac{1}{n} - C_{dim} \cdot C_{2,\epsilon} \cdot \delta, \quad C_2 := C_{dim} \cdot C_{2,\epsilon} \cdot \left(C_{\epsilon,\mathcal{U}} + \frac{4}{\delta}\right),$$

where

$$0 < \delta < \min\left\{1, \frac{1}{n \, C_{dim} C_{2,\epsilon}}\right\},\,$$

and  $C_{dim}$  denotes a fixed dimensional constant that only depends on n.

*Proof.* Combining (17), (26) and (28) we obtain

$$D_{H}(u) = \int_{\mathcal{U}} \|\nabla_{H} u\|^{2} dV - \frac{1}{n} \sum_{I,J} (p_{I} - q_{J}) \int_{\mathcal{U}} (\|\bar{\partial} u_{I,J}\|^{2} - \|\partial u_{I,J}\|^{2}) dV$$

$$- \Re \int_{\partial \mathcal{U} \setminus \operatorname{char}(\partial \mathcal{U})} \langle R_{i}^{\nu_{H}} u, u \rangle d\sigma_{H}$$

$$- \Im \frac{1}{n} \int_{\partial \mathcal{U} \setminus \operatorname{char}(\partial \mathcal{U})} \left\langle R_{j}^{J\nu_{H}} u, \sum_{k=1}^{n} (e_{k} i_{k} - e_{\bar{k}} i_{\bar{k}}) u \right\rangle d\sigma_{H},$$

where i, j = 1, 2. On the other hand, keeping in mind (11) and the fact that

$$|(p_I - q_J)| \le h < n,$$

we get

$$\int_{\mathcal{U}} \|\nabla_{H} u\|^{2} dV - \frac{1}{n} \sum_{I,J} (p_{I} - q_{J}) \int_{\mathcal{U}} (\|\bar{\partial} u_{I,J}\|^{2} - \|\partial u_{I,J}\|^{2}) dV 
\geq \frac{n-h}{n} \int_{\mathcal{U}} \|\nabla_{H} u\|^{2} dV,$$

so that

(35) 
$$D_{H}(u) \geq \frac{1}{n} \int_{\mathcal{U}} \|\nabla_{H} u\|^{2} dV - \Re \int_{\partial \mathcal{U} \setminus \operatorname{char}(\partial \mathcal{U})} \langle R_{i}^{\nu_{H}} u, u \rangle d\sigma_{H}$$
$$- \Im \frac{1}{n} \int_{\partial \mathcal{U} \setminus \operatorname{char}(\partial \mathcal{U})} \left\langle R_{j}^{J\nu_{H}} u, \sum_{k=1}^{n} (e_{k} i_{k} - e_{\bar{k}} i_{\bar{k}}) u \right\rangle d\sigma_{H}.$$

By arguing as in [15], Chapter 5.2, it is not difficult to show that  $R_1^{\nu_H}(u)$ and  $R_2^{\nu_H}(u)$  satisfy the estimates

$$||R_i^{\nu_H}(u)|| \le C_{dim}^i ||\mathcal{J}ac_H \nu_H|| ||u||$$
  $(i = 1, 2),$ 

where  $C^i_{dim} := C^i(h,n)$  is a positive constant that depends only on the integers h and n. Analogously, we have

$$||R_i^{J\nu_H}(u)|| \le C_{dim}^i ||\mathcal{J}ac_H \nu_H|| ||u||$$
  $(i = 1, 2).$ 

Moreover, a straightforward computation shows that  $\|\mathcal{J}ac_H\nu_H\|$  is of class  $\mathbf{C}^1$  out of  $\operatorname{char}(\partial \mathcal{U})$  and that  $\|\mathcal{J}\operatorname{ac}_H \nu_H\| = O\left(\frac{1}{\|\mathbf{n}_H\|}\right)$  near  $\operatorname{char}(\partial \mathcal{U})$ . Hence, keeping in mind Theorem 8, we make the following computations:

$$D_{H}(u) \geq \frac{1}{n} \int_{\mathcal{U}} \|\nabla_{H}u\|^{2} dV$$

$$-C_{dim} \int_{\partial \mathcal{U} \setminus \operatorname{char}(\partial \mathcal{U})} \|\mathcal{J}\operatorname{ac}_{H}\nu_{H}\| \|u\|^{2} d\sigma_{H}$$

$$\geq \frac{1}{n} \int_{\mathcal{U}} \|\nabla_{H}u\|^{2} dV$$

$$-C_{dim} \int_{\partial \mathcal{U} \cap \mathcal{V}_{\epsilon}} \|\mathcal{J}\operatorname{ac}_{H}\nu_{H}\| \|u\|^{2} d\sigma_{H}$$

$$-C_{dim} \int_{\partial \mathcal{U} \setminus \mathcal{V}_{\epsilon}} \|\mathcal{J}\operatorname{ac}_{H}\nu_{H}\| \|u\|^{2} d\sigma_{H}$$

$$\geq \frac{1}{n} \int_{\mathcal{U}} \|\nabla_{H}u\|^{2} dV - C_{0} \int_{\partial \mathcal{U} \cap \mathcal{V}_{\epsilon}} \|u\|^{2} d\sigma$$

$$-C_{dim}C_{2,\epsilon} \int_{\partial \mathcal{U} \setminus \mathcal{V}_{\epsilon}} \|u\|^{2} d\sigma_{H}$$

$$\geq \frac{1}{n} \int_{\mathcal{U}} \|\nabla_{H}u\|^{2} dV - C_{0} \int_{\partial \mathcal{U} \cap \mathcal{V}_{\epsilon}} \|u\|^{2} d\sigma$$

$$-C_{dim}C_{2,\epsilon} \left( \left( C_{\epsilon,\mathcal{U}} + \frac{4}{\delta} \right) \int_{\mathcal{U}} \|u\|^{2} dV + \delta \int_{\mathcal{U}} \|\nabla_{H}u\|^{2} dV \right),$$

and the assertion (34) follows.

**Theorem 6.3** (Gaffney-Friedrichs Inequality (2nd version)). Let  $\mathcal{U} \subsetneq \mathbb{H}^n$  be a domain with smooth boundary of class  $\mathbf{C}^2$  satisfying condition (H) (see Definition 3.4). Let  $u \in \Omega^h_H(\overline{\mathcal{U}}) \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{C}$  be a horizontal h-form with  $1 \leq h < n$ , and assume that:

- (i) u satisfies condition (DN) (see Proposition 5.11);
- (ii) u satisfies condition  $(J\nu_H^*)$  (see Remark 5.15).

Then, there exist geometric constants  $\widetilde{C}_1$  and  $\widetilde{C}_2$ , only dependent on  $\mathcal{U}$  and on the integers h and n, such that

(36) 
$$D_{H}(u) \geq \widetilde{C}_{1} \int_{\mathcal{U}} \|\nabla_{H} u\|^{2} dV - \widetilde{C}_{2} \int_{\mathcal{U}} \|u\|^{2} dV.$$

Furthermore, if  $u \in \Omega_H^h(\overline{\mathcal{U}}) \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{C}$  is a horizontal h-form with  $n+1 \leq h \leq 2n$ , then (46) still holds provided that  $*_H u$  satisfies (i) and (ii).

For the case h = n we refer the reader to Theorem 6.7.

We start from the estimate (35) in the proof of Theorem 6.1, by proving a more effective estimate of the remaining terms. By Remarks 5.15 and 5.18, we are reduced to

(37) 
$$D_H(u) \ge \frac{1}{n} \int_{\mathcal{U}} \|\nabla_H u\|^2 dV - \Re e \int_{\partial \mathcal{U} \setminus \operatorname{char}(\partial \mathcal{U})} \langle R_i^{\nu_H} u, u \rangle d\sigma_H.$$

To this end, let us study the quantities  $R_i^{\nu_H}(u,u)$ , with i=1,2.

Remark 6.4. Let  $\mu_H \in \mathbf{C}^1(\partial \mathcal{U} \setminus \operatorname{char}(\partial \mathcal{U})), \bigwedge^1 \mathfrak{h}_1 \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{C}$  and assume that  $\|\mu_H\| = 1$ . For any smooth function  $\phi : \partial \mathcal{U} \setminus \operatorname{char}(\partial \mathcal{U}) \to \mathbb{R}$  we have

$$R_1^{\phi\mu_H}(u) = \phi \left( \sum_I u_I d_H \left( \mu_H \sqcup \omega^I \right) \right) + \sum_I u_I d_H \phi \wedge \left( \mu_H \sqcup \omega^I \right),$$
  
$$= \phi R_1^{\mu_H}(u) + d_H \phi \wedge \left( \mu_H \sqcup u \right),$$

and

$$R_2^{\phi\mu_H}(u) = \phi \left( \sum_I u_I \delta_H \left( \mu_H \wedge \omega^I \right) \right) - \sum_I u_I \left( d_H \phi \perp \left( \mu_H \wedge \omega^I \right) \right)$$
$$= \phi R_2^{\mu_H}(u) - d_H \phi \perp \left( \mu_H \wedge u \right).$$

By condition (H), near the characteristic set, the boundary of  $\mathcal{U}$  is a T-graph (i.e.,  $\partial \mathcal{U}$  is a Euclidean graph w.r.t. the hyperplane t = 0) and so there exists a  $\mathbb{C}^2$  defining function  $g : \mathbb{H}^n \to \mathbb{R}$  of the form g(x, y, t) = t - f(x, y). Hence

$$N_H = \nabla_H g = \nabla_H (t - f(x, y)) = \left(-\frac{y}{2} - \nabla_x f, \frac{x}{2} - \nabla_y f\right).$$

Accordingly, we assume that  $\nu_H = \frac{N_H}{\|N_H\|}$ , where  $N_H := \nabla_H g$ . Thus we get

(38) 
$$R_1^{\nu_H}(u) = \frac{R_1^{N_H}(u)}{\|N_H\|} + d_H \left(\frac{1}{\|N_H\|}\right) \wedge (N_H \perp u),$$

where the second term vanishes on  $\partial \mathcal{U} \setminus \text{char}(\partial \mathcal{U})$  when  $u_{\nu_H} = \nu_H \perp u = 0$ . Similarly we get

(39) 
$$R_2^{\nu_H}(u) = \frac{R_2^{N_H}(u)}{\|N_H\|} - d_H \left(\frac{1}{\|N_H\|}\right) \perp (N_H \wedge u),$$

and the second term vanishes on  $\partial \mathcal{U} \setminus \operatorname{char}(\partial \mathcal{U})$  when  $u_t = \nu_H \perp (\nu_H \wedge u) = 0$ .

As we shall see below, formulas (38) and (39) are very important for our purposes. In particular, under the hypothesis  $u_{\nu_H} = 0$  on  $\partial \mathcal{U} \setminus \text{char}(\partial \mathcal{U})$ , we find that  $R_1^{\nu_H}(u) = \frac{R_1^{N_H}(u)}{\|N_H\|}$ . Furthermore, under the hypothesis  $u_t = 0$  on  $\partial \mathcal{U} \setminus \text{char}(\partial \mathcal{U})$ , the quantity  $R_2^{\nu_H}(u)$  can be obtained by duality (via the horizontal Hodge star operator) from the computation of  $R_1^{\nu_H}(u)$ . Thus, let u be a horizontal h-form and let us compute

$$R_{1}^{\nu_{H}}(u,u) := \langle R_{1}^{\nu_{H}}(u), u \rangle = \sum_{I,J} u_{I} \overline{u}_{J} \frac{\langle d_{H} \left( N_{H} \sqcup \omega^{I} \right), \omega^{J} \rangle}{\|N_{H}\|}$$

$$= \sum_{I,J} \sum_{r} u_{I} \overline{u}_{J} \frac{\langle d_{H} \left( (N_{H})_{r} \omega_{r} \sqcup \omega^{I} \right), \omega^{J} \rangle}{\|N_{H}\|}$$

$$= \sum_{I,J} \sum_{r,k} W_{k} \left( (N_{H})_{r} \right) u_{I} \overline{u}_{J} \frac{\langle \omega_{k} \wedge \left( \omega_{r} \sqcup \omega^{I} \right), \omega^{J} \rangle}{\|N_{H}\|}$$

$$= \frac{1}{\|N_{H}\|} \left\langle \sum_{r,k} W_{k} \left( (N_{H})_{r} \right) \omega_{k} \wedge \left( \omega_{r} \sqcup u \right), u \right\rangle$$

$$=: \frac{\langle \mathcal{J}ac_{H}(N_{H})u, u \rangle}{\|N_{H}\|}.$$

Remark 6.5. More generally, let v be such that  $J\nu_H \perp v = 0$ . Now, arguing as above yields

$$R_1^{J\nu_H}(v) = \frac{R_1^{J\mathcal{N}_H}(v)}{\|\mathcal{N}_H\|}.$$

Thus, with the obvious meaning of symbols and keeping in mind that J is an isometry, our previous arguments show that

$$R_1^{J\nu_H}(v,v) = \frac{\langle \mathcal{J}ac_H(JN_H)v, v \rangle}{\|N_H\|}.$$

Analogously, let v be such that  $J\nu_H \wedge v = 0$ . Then, as above, we get

$$R_2^{J\nu_H}(v,v) = \frac{\langle \mathcal{J}ac_H(JN_H)v, v\rangle}{\|N_H\|}.$$

Now going back to (40), we see by condition (H) that

$$\mathcal{J}ac_H(N_H) = \frac{1}{2}J - \operatorname{Hess}_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}}f.$$

Thus, using the skew-symmetry of the linear operator J, we have

(41) 
$$\Re R_1^{\nu_H}(u, u) = O\left(\frac{\|\operatorname{Hess}_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} f\|}{\|\operatorname{N}_H\|}\right) \|u\|^2,$$

and applying condition (H) yields  $O\left(\frac{\|\operatorname{Hess}_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}}f\|}{\|\operatorname{N}_{H}\|}\right) = O(1)$ . Eventually, we resume the above discussion in the following.

**Lemma 6.6.** Let  $\mathcal{U} \subseteq \mathbb{H}^n$  be a domain with smooth boundary of class  $\mathbb{C}^2$ satisfying condition (H). Let u, v be horizontal h-forms defined on  $\overline{\mathcal{U}}$ , with  $1 \le h \le n$ . Then, we have:

- (i) If  $u_{\nu_H} = 0$  on  $\partial \mathcal{U}$ , then  $\Re R_1^{\nu_H}(u, u) = O(\|u\|^2)$ . (ii) If  $u_t = 0$  on  $\partial \mathcal{U}$ , then  $\Re R_2^{\nu_H}(u, u) = O(\|u\|^2)$ .

In addition, we have:

- (iii) If  $(Jv)_{\nu_H} = 0$  on  $\partial \mathcal{U}$ , then  $\Im R_1^{J\nu_H}(v,v) = O(\|v\|^2)$ .
- (iv) If  $(Jv)_{t} = 0$  on  $\partial \mathcal{U}$ , then  $\Im R_{2}^{J\nu_{H}}(v,v) = O(\|v\|^{2})$ .

In particular, it follows from definitions that  $\Re \langle R(u), u \rangle = O(\|u\|^2)$ .

*Proof.* The proof of (i) follows by using (41). Then (ii) follows from (i) by duality (using the horizontal Hodge star operator); see Remark 5.7. The last claim it is an immediate consequence of (i), (ii) and of the very definition of R(u). Assertions (iii) and (iv) follow in the same way keeping in mind Remark 6.5.

Proof of Theorem 6.3. From (37) we know that

$$D_H(u) \geq \frac{1}{n} \int_{\mathcal{U}} \|\nabla_H u\|^2 dV - \Re e \int_{\partial \mathcal{U} \setminus \operatorname{char}(\partial \mathcal{U})} \langle R_i^{\nu_H} u, u \rangle d\sigma_H.$$

By appplying Lemma 6.6 and Theorem 3.9, it follows that

$$D_{H}(u) \geq \frac{1}{n} \int_{\mathcal{U}} \|\nabla_{H} u\|^{2} dV - C \int_{\partial \mathcal{U} \setminus \operatorname{char}(\partial \mathcal{U})} |\mathcal{T} u|^{2} d\sigma_{H}$$
$$\geq \frac{1}{2n} \int_{\mathcal{U}} \|\nabla_{H} u\|^{2} dV - C_{n} \|u\|_{L^{2}(\mathcal{U})}.$$

The proof of the lemma easily follows.

**Theorem 6.7.** Let us suppose that the assumptions of either Theorem 6.1 or Theorem 6.3 are satisfied, where the condition  $1 \le h < n$  is replaced by

(42) 
$$h = n \quad and \quad u \notin \Omega_H^{n,0} \cup \Omega_H^{0,n}.$$

Then the conclusions of either Theorem 6.1 or Theorem 6.3 hold. Moreover, if  $u \in \Omega_H^{n,0} \cup \Omega_H^{0,n}$ , then estimates like (34) and (46) fail to hold.

*Proof.* The first assertion follows by noticing that, in the proofs of 6.1 and Theorem 6.3, the assumption h < n was used only in deriving inequality (35), where we used that, if  $u \in \Omega_H^{p,q}$ , then |p-q| < n. But, trivially, the same conclusion holds if h = n and  $u \notin \Omega_H^{n,0} \cup \Omega_H^{0,n}$ .

As for the second assertion, we take, for instance,  $u = f \theta^{(1,2,\dots,n)}$ , with  $f \in \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{U})$ . In such a case the estimates (34) and (46) coincide and represent nothing but a maximal subelliptic estimate for the operator  $\Delta_K \pm in T$ . But then the operator  $\Delta_K \pm in T$  would be hypoelliptic (see, e.g., [11], Theorem 4.1), contradicting the fact that the values  $\pm n$  are "forbidden values" for the Kohn Laplacian in  $\mathbb{H}^n$  (see, e.g., [44], Chapter XIII, 2.3).

# 7. Further Gaffney-Friedrichs inequalities for horizontal forms

As already pointed out in Remark 5.15, condition  $(J\nu_H^*)$  of Theorem 6.3 is not "geometric", in the sense that it is written "in coordinates". Thus, let us replace  $(J\nu_H^*)$  by a slightly different "geometric" condition.

To this end, we stress first that, in the proof of Theorem 6.3, condition  $(J\nu_H^*)$  can be replaced by the following weaker condition:

(43) 
$$\left| \Im \left\langle \partial_{J\nu_H} u, \sum_{k=1}^n (e_k i_k - e_{\bar{k}} i_{\bar{k}}) u \right\rangle_{L^2(\partial \mathcal{U})} \right| \le C \|u\|_{L^2(\partial \mathcal{U})}^2.$$

Let us still suppose that both conditions (DN) and (H) holds. If  $u_{\nu_H} = 0$ , we can argue as follows. By applying Remarks 5.7 and 5.15, we compute

$$\begin{split} &\left\langle \partial_{J\nu_{H}}u,\sum_{k=1}^{n}(e_{k}i_{k}-e_{\bar{k}}i_{\bar{k}})u\right\rangle \\ &=\left\langle \partial_{J\nu_{H}}Ju,\sum_{k=1}^{n}(e_{k}i_{k}-e_{\bar{k}}i_{\bar{k}})Ju\right\rangle \\ &=\left\langle \left(\mathcal{L}_{J\nu_{H}}Ju-R_{1}^{J\nu_{H}}Ju\right),\sum_{k=1}^{n}(e_{k}i_{k}-e_{\bar{k}}i_{\bar{k}})Ju\right\rangle \\ &=\left\langle \mathcal{L}_{J\nu_{H}}Ju,\sum_{k=1}^{n}(e_{k}i_{k}-e_{\bar{k}}i_{\bar{k}})Ju\right\rangle -\left\langle R_{1}^{J\nu_{H}}Ju,\sum_{k=1}^{n}(e_{k}i_{k}-e_{\bar{k}}i_{\bar{k}})Ju\right\rangle \\ &=\left\langle \mathcal{L}_{J\nu_{H}}Ju,J\sum_{k=1}^{n}(e_{k}i_{k}-e_{\bar{k}}i_{\bar{k}})u\right\rangle -\left\langle R_{1}^{J\nu_{H}}Ju,\sum_{k=1}^{n}(e_{k}i_{k}-e_{\bar{k}}i_{\bar{k}})Ju\right\rangle \\ &=\left\langle \mathcal{L}_{J\nu_{H}}Ju,J\sum_{k=1}^{n}(e_{k}i_{k}-e_{\bar{k}}i_{\bar{k}})u\right\rangle -\left\langle R_{1}^{J\nu_{H}}Ju,\sum_{k=1}^{n}(e_{k}i_{k}-e_{\bar{k}}i_{\bar{k}})Ju\right\rangle . \end{split}$$

Now suppose that the following geometric condition holds:

(44) 
$$\Im\left\langle J^{-1}\mathcal{L}_{J\nu_H}Ju, \sum_{\substack{k=1\\36}}^{n} (e_k i_k - e_{\bar{k}} i_{\bar{k}})u \right\rangle = 0.$$

Under this assumption, let us show that (43) holds. We have

$$\Im \left( \langle R_{1}^{J\nu_{H}} Ju, \sum_{k=1}^{n} (e_{k}i_{k} - e_{\bar{k}}i_{\bar{k}}) Ju \rangle \right) \\
= \Im \left( \langle R_{1}^{J\nu_{H}} v, \sum_{k=1}^{n} (e_{k}i_{k} - e_{\bar{k}}i_{\bar{k}}) v \rangle \right) \\
= \Im \|N_{H}\|^{-1} \left\langle \langle R_{1}^{JN_{H}} v, \sum_{k=1}^{n} (e_{k}i_{k} - e_{\bar{k}}i_{\bar{k}}) v \rangle \right\rangle \\
= \Im \|N_{H}\|^{-1} \left\langle \int \operatorname{ac}_{H} (JN_{H}) v, \sum_{k=1}^{n} (e_{k}i_{k} - e_{\bar{k}}i_{\bar{k}}) v \rangle \right\rangle \\
= \Im \|N_{H}\|^{-1} \left\langle \left( -\frac{h}{2} \operatorname{Id} - J(\operatorname{Hess}_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} f) \right) v, \sum_{k=1}^{n} (e_{k}i_{k} - e_{\bar{k}}i_{\bar{k}}) v \right\rangle \\
= -\Im \frac{h}{2} \|N_{H}\|^{-1} \left\langle v, \sum_{k=1}^{n} (e_{k}i_{k} - e_{\bar{k}}i_{\bar{k}}) v \right\rangle \\
-\Im \|N_{H}\|^{-1} \left\langle J(\operatorname{Hess}_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} f) v, \sum_{k=1}^{n} (e_{k}i_{k} - e_{\bar{k}}i_{\bar{k}}) v \right\rangle \\
= -\Im \|N_{H}\|^{-1} \left\langle J(\operatorname{Hess}_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} f) v, \sum_{k=1}^{n} (e_{k}i_{k} - e_{\bar{k}}i_{\bar{k}}) v \right\rangle,$$

since

$$\left\langle v, \sum_{k=1}^{n} (e_k i_k - e_{\bar{k}} i_{\bar{k}}) v \right\rangle = \sum_{k=1}^{n} (\|i_k v\|^2 - \|i_{\bar{k}} v\|^2)$$

is a real number. Thus keeping in mind that ||v|| = ||Ju|| = ||u|| yields (43). Analogously, if in condition (DN) one has  $u_t = 0$ , then we can argue in a similar way by assuming that:

(45) 
$$\Im \left\langle J^{-1} \widetilde{\mathcal{L}}_{J\nu_H} J u, \sum_{k=1}^n (e_k i_k - e_{\bar{k}} i_{\bar{k}}) u \right\rangle = 0.$$

We summarize the previous arguments in the following.

**Theorem 7.1** (Gaffney-Friedrichs Inequality (3rd version)). Let  $\mathcal{U} \subsetneq \mathbb{H}^n$  be a domain with smooth boundary of class  $\mathbf{C}^2$  satisfying condition (H) (see Definition 3.4). Let  $u \in \Omega_H^h(\overline{\mathcal{U}}) \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{C}$  be a horizontal h-form with  $1 \leq h < n$ , and assume that either

- (i)  $u_{\nu_H} = 0$ ,
- (ii) u satisfies the condition (44),

or

- (j)  $u_t = 0$ ,
- (jj) u satisfies the condition (45).

Then, there exist geometric constants  $\widetilde{C}_1$  and  $\widetilde{C}_2$ , only dependent on  $\mathcal{U}$  and on the integers h and n, such that

(46) 
$$D_H(u) \ge \widetilde{C}_1 \int_{\mathcal{U}} \|\nabla_H u\|^2 dV - \widetilde{C}_2 \int_{\mathcal{U}} \|u\|^2 dV.$$

Furthermore, if  $u \in \Omega_H^h(\overline{\mathcal{U}}) \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{C}$  is a horizontal h-form with  $n+1 \leq h \leq 2n$ , then (46) still holds provided that  $*_H u$  satisfies either (i) and (ii), or (j) and (jj). Finally, Theorem 6.7 still holds in this case.

## 8. Rumin's complex in Heisenberg groups

8.1. **Rumin's complex.** In this section we briefly sketch the main ideas in Rumin's construction of the intrinsic complex of differential forms in Heisenberg groups; see [40]. For a more general approach we refer the reader, for instance, to [42], [43], and [7].

First, we would like to show how Rumin's complex appears naturally in the Geometric Measure Theory of Heisenberg groups. The starting point is the question "what is counterpart of a linear manifold in Heisenberg groups?". As shown in [23], [25], this role is played by the homogeneous subgroups of  $\mathbb{H}^n$ , that is, in exponential coordinates, by the homogeneous subalgebras of  $\mathfrak{h}$ . It is well-known that, in Euclidean spaces, linear submanifolds are the annihilators of homogeneous simple covectors, which are invariant under translations. Thus, is it natural to look for left-invariant homogeneous differential forms whose annihilator is a subalgebra of  $\mathfrak{h}$ .

By the Frobenius theorem, the annihilator of a left invariant differential form  $\omega$  is a Lie subalgebra of  $\mathfrak{h}$  if and only if  $d\omega = 0$ . On the other hand, when acting on left-invariant forms, the exterior differential d is nothing but its "algebraic" part, which in the sequel will be denoted as  $d_0$ ; see below, Definition 8.2.

A natural choice for a class of intrinsic differential forms in  $\mathbb{H}^n$  would be to take  $\ker d_0$  as the ambient space. Nevertheless, this choice is not totally satisfying, since it fails to take into account a crucial algebraic property of linear manifolds in Euclidean spaces, which resides in the fact that they are complemented. Indeed, also complementary subspaces of a fixed subspace V can be viewed as annihilators of differential forms in the following sense: If V is the annihilator of a  $simple form \omega$ , then a complementary subspace W is the annihilator of the Hodge-dual form  $*\omega$ , where the Hodge duality must be taken with respect to an inner product making V and W orthogonal. Thus in order to obtain a satisfying notion of intrinsic h-covector in  $\mathfrak{h}$ , we have to choose once for all an inner product in  $\mathfrak{h}$  and take

$$E_0^h = \ker d_0 \cap \ker(*d_0).$$

Recall that  $\mathfrak{h}$  is endowed with the inner product that makes the basis  $\{X_1, \ldots, X_n, Y_1, \ldots, Y_n, T\}$  orthonormal.

The family of vector spaces  $(E_0^h)_{0 \le h \le n}$  can be equipped with an "exterior differential operator"

$$d_c: E_0^h \to E_0^{h+1}$$

making  $(E_0^*, d_c)$  a complex that is homotopic to the de Rham complex. The definition of  $d_c$  is rather technical and will be given by Theorem 8.6 below.

Essentially,  $d_c$  is defined as

$$d_c := \prod_{E_0} d\Pi_E$$

where  $\Pi_E$  is the projection onto a second complex  $(E^*,d)$ , again homotopic to the de Rham complex, which is meant to take into account the lack of commutativity of  $\mathfrak{h}$ , and where  $\Pi_{E_0}$  is the orthogonal projection on  $E_0^*$  that minimizes the number of compatibility conditions for a differential form to be exact. We stress that  $d_c$  is an operator of order 1 in the horizontal derivatives, when acts on  $E_0^h$  with  $h \neq n$ , but it is of order 2 on  $E_0^n$ .

**Definition 8.1.** If  $\alpha \in \bigwedge^1 \mathfrak{h}_1$ ,  $\alpha \neq 0$ , then we say that  $\alpha$  has weight 1, and write  $w(\alpha) = 1$ . If  $\alpha = \vartheta$ , then we say that  $\alpha$  has weight 2, and write  $w(\alpha) = 2$ . More generally, we say that  $\alpha \in \bigwedge^h \mathfrak{h}$  has pure weight k when  $\alpha$  is a linear combination of covectors  $\psi_{i_1} \wedge .... \wedge \psi_{i_h}$  such that  $w(\psi_{i_1}) + ... + w(\psi_{i_h}) = k$ .

Note that, if  $\alpha, \beta \in \bigwedge^h \mathfrak{h}$  and  $w(\alpha) \neq w(\beta)$ , then  $\langle \alpha, \beta \rangle = 0$ . Moreover, we have (see, e.g., formula (13) in [7]):

$$\bigwedge^h \mathfrak{h} = \bigwedge^{h,h} \mathfrak{h} \oplus \bigwedge^{h,h+1} \mathfrak{h},$$

where  $\bigwedge^{h,p} \mathfrak{h}$  denotes the linear span of  $\Psi^{h,p} := \{ \alpha \in \Psi^h : w(\alpha) = p \}.$ 

The ordinary exterior differential d splits into the sum of its weighted components. More precisely, we have the following definition.

**Definition 8.2.** Let  $\alpha = \sum_{\psi_i^h \in \Psi^{h,p}} \alpha_i \psi_i^h$  be a smooth (simple) *h*-form of pure weight *p*. Then we shall write

$$(47) d\alpha = d_0\alpha + d_1\alpha + d_2\alpha,$$

where  $d_0\alpha$  has pure weight p,  $d_1\alpha$  has pure weight p+1, and  $d_2\alpha$  has pure weight p+2.

When acting on left-invariant forms, one has  $d = d_0$ , since d preserves the weight. Notice also that  $d_1 = d_H$ .

Using Cartan's identity (see, for example, [32], formula (9) p. 21) and the left-invariance of the forms  $\psi_i^h \in \Psi^{h,p}$ , it follows that

$$d_0 \alpha = \sum_{\psi_i^h \in \Psi^{h,p}} \alpha_i d\psi_i^h.$$

Analogously, we have

$$d_1 \alpha = \sum_{\psi_i^h \in \Psi^{h,p}} W_j(\alpha_i) \psi_j \wedge \psi_i^h, \qquad d_2 \alpha = \sum_{\psi_i^h \in \Psi^{h,p}} T(\alpha_i) \vartheta \wedge \psi_i^h.$$

We stress that  $d_0$  is an algebraic operator, and therefore can be identified with an operator acting on covectors.

The following important notion due to Rumin can be found in [41, 42].

**Definition 8.3.** For any  $0 \le h \le 2n+1$  we set  $E_0^h := \operatorname{Ker} d_0 \cap \mathcal{R}(d_0)^{\perp}$ . The elements of  $E_0^h$  are called *intrinsic h-forms on*  $\mathbb{H}^n$ .

It is not difficult to see that  $*E_0^h = E_0^{2n+1-h}$ . Observe that, since this notion is invariant under left translations, the space  $E_0^h$  can be seen as the space of sections of a fiber subbundle of  $\bigwedge^h \mathfrak{h}$ , generated by left translation and still denoted as  $E_0^h$ . Since  $d_0$  is algebraic, there is no ambiguity if we denote by  $E_0^*$  both the space of covectors and the spaces of the sections of the associated linear bundle. We also note that  $E_0^h$  inherits from  $\bigwedge^h \mathfrak{h}$  the inner product  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$  on the fibers.

**Theorem 8.4** (See [41]). With the notation of Definition 2.7, we have:

- $\bullet$   $E_0^1 = \bigwedge^1 \mathfrak{h}_1$ .
- If  $2 \le h \le n$ , then  $E_0^h = \bigwedge^h \mathfrak{h}_1 \cap \ker \Lambda$ . If  $n < h \le 2n + 1$ , then  $E_0^h = \theta \wedge \ker L$ .

We remark that a h-form in  $E_0^h$  has either weight h, if  $1 \leq h \leq n$ , or weight h+1, if  $n < h \leq 2n+1$ . Let  $\Xi_0^h = \{\xi_i^h : 1 \leq i \leq N_h\}$  be an orthonormal basis of  $E_0^h$ , where  $N_h := \dim E_0^h$ . Notice that we can always assume that  $\xi_i^1 = \psi_i$  for any i = 1, ..., 2n.

We have to define an "inverse" of the algebraic operator  $d_0$  and this can be done as follows (see, e.g., Lemma 2.11 in [7]).

**Lemma 8.5.** For any  $\beta \in \bigwedge^{h+1} \mathfrak{h}$  there exists a unique  $\alpha \in \bigwedge^h \mathfrak{h} \cap (\ker d_0)^{\perp}$  such that  $d_0\alpha - \beta \in (\mathcal{R}(d_0))^{\perp}$ . In the sequel, with a slight abuse of notation, we shall set  $d_0^{-1}\beta := \alpha$ .

By construction, the operator  $d_0^{-1}$  is weight-preserving.

In the next theorem we summarize the main features of the intrinsic exterior differential  $d_c$ . For more details, we refer the reader to [41]; see also [42] and [7].

**Theorem 8.6.** The de Rham complex  $(\Omega^*, d)$  splits into the direct sum of two sub-complexes  $(E^*, d)$  and  $(F^*, d)$ , where we have set

$$E := \ker d_0^{-1} \cap \ker (d_0^{-1}d), \qquad F := \mathcal{R}(d_0^{-1}) + \mathcal{R}(dd_0^{-1}).$$

Furthermore, the following assertions hold:

- (i) Let  $\Pi_E$  denote the (non-orthogonal) projection on E along F. For any  $\alpha \in E_0^h$  one has either  $\Pi_E \alpha = \alpha - d_0^{-1} d_1 \alpha$ , if  $1 \leq h \leq n$ , or  $\Pi_E \alpha = \alpha$ , if h > n.
- (ii)  $\Pi_E$  is a chain map, i.e.,  $d\Pi_E = \Pi_E d$ .
- (iii) Let  $\Pi_{E_0}$  denote the orthogonal projection from  $\bigwedge^* \mathfrak{h}$  onto  $E_0^*$ . Then, we have  $\Pi_{E_0} = \operatorname{Id} d_0^{-1} d_0 d_0 d_0^{-1}$  and  $\Pi_{E_0^{\perp}} = d_0^{-1} d_0 d_0 d_0^{-1}$ .
- (iv) We have  $\Pi_{E_0} = \Pi_{E_0} \Pi_E \Pi_{E_0}$  and  $\Pi_E = \Pi_E \Pi_{E_0} \Pi_E$ .

Let  $0 \le h \le 2n$  and set  $d_c := \prod_{E_0} d \prod_E : E_0^h \to E_0^{h+1}$ . Then, we have:

- (vi) The differential complex  $(E_0^*, d_c)$  is exact. (vii) If  $h \neq n$ , then  $d_c : E_0^h \to E_0^{h+1}$  is a homogeneous differential operator in the horizontal derivatives of order 1. Moreover,  $d_c: E_0^n \to E_0^{n+1}$  $is\ a\ homogeneous\ differential\ operator\ of\ order\ 2.$

Notice that for any smooth function  $f \in E_0^0$  we have

$$d_c f = (\nabla_H f)^\# = \sum_{i=1}^n (X_i f dx_i + Y_i f dy_i).$$

We can also define a codifferential  $\delta_c$ , by taking the formal adjoint of  $d_c$  in  $L^2(\mathbb{H}^n, E_0^*)$ . More precisely, we set  $\delta_c := d_c^*$ .

**Proposition 8.7.** On  $E_0^h$  we have  $\delta_c = (-1)^h * d_c *$ .

For a proof, see, e.g., [26], Proposition 3.15.

Explicit calculations and further examples concerning Rumin's complex in Heisenberg groups can be found in [8].

**Definition 8.8** (Sub-Laplacians on forms; see [40]). We define the operator  $\Delta_{c,h}$  on  $E_0^h$  by setting

$$\Delta_{c,h} := \begin{cases} d_c \delta_c + \delta_c d_c & \text{if } h \neq n, \ n+1; \\ (d_c \delta_c)^2 + \delta_c d_c & \text{if } h = n; \\ d_c \delta_c + (\delta_c d_c)^2 & \text{if } h = n+1. \end{cases}$$

Notice that  $\Delta_{c,0} = \Delta_K$  is the usual sub-Laplacian on  $\mathbb{H}^n$ .

**Lemma 8.9.** If  $\alpha \in E_0^h$ , with  $h \neq n+1$ , then  $\delta_H \alpha = \delta_c \alpha$ .

**Proposition 8.10** ([40], Proposition 4). Let  $1 \le h < n$  and  $\alpha \in E_0^h$ . Then:

- (i)  $\delta_c \alpha = \delta_H \alpha$ ;
- (ii)  $d_c \alpha = d_H u \frac{1}{n-h+1} L \Lambda(d_H \alpha).$

The next lemma follows from the Kähler identities in Proposition 4.5.

**Lemma 8.11.** For any  $u \in E_0^h$ , with  $0 \le h \le n$ , we have  $\Lambda(d_H u) = -\delta_H^J u$ . Furthermore  $\Lambda^{\ell}(d_H u) = 0$  for every  $\ell \ge 2$ .

*Proof.* Keeping in mind that  $\Lambda u = 0$  and using (i) of Proposition 4.5 yields

$$\Lambda(d_H u) = d_H \Lambda u - \delta_H^J u = -\delta_H^J u.$$

Moreover, by applying (iii) of Proposition 4.5 we obtain

$$\Lambda^2(d_H u) = \Lambda \delta_H^J u = \delta_H^J \Lambda u = 0.$$

**Lemma 8.12.** Let  $u \in E_0^h$ , with  $0 \le h < n$ . Then

(48) 
$$d_c u = d_H u + \frac{1}{n-h+1} L \delta_H^J u.$$

Moreover, the following identity holds:

$$||d_c u||^2 + \frac{1}{n-h+1} ||\delta_H^J u||^2 = ||d_H u||^2.$$

Proof. By Proposition 8.10 and Lemma 8.11 we get

$$d_c u = d_H u - \frac{1}{n-h+1} L\Lambda(d_H u)$$
$$= d_H u + \frac{1}{n-h+1} L\delta_H^J u.$$

In order to prove the second assertion we first remark that, by definition,  $d_c u$  is orthogonal to the range of L. Now since  $L\delta_H^J u = -L\Lambda(d_H u)$  we get

$$||L\delta_{H}^{J}u||^{2} = ||L\Lambda(d_{H}u)||^{2}$$

$$= \langle L\Lambda(d_{H}u), L\Lambda(d_{H}u) \rangle$$

$$= \langle \Lambda(d_{H}u), \Lambda L\Lambda(d_{H}u) \rangle$$

$$= \langle \Lambda(d_{H}u), L\Lambda^{2}(d_{H}u) \rangle + (n-h+1) \langle \Lambda(d_{H}u), \Lambda(d_{H}u) \rangle \quad \text{(by Lemma 2.8)}$$

$$= (n-h+1) \langle \Lambda(d_{H}u), \Lambda(d_{H}u) \rangle \quad \text{(by Lemma 8.11)}$$

$$= (n-h+1) ||\delta_{H}^{J}u||^{2},$$

and the thesis easily follows.

8.2. Decomposition of forms on the boundary of a domain II. This section is the counterpart of Section 2.2 and, roughly specking, the idea here is to replace horizontal forms with intrinsic forms in  $E_0^*$ . We later assume that  $\mathcal{U} \subseteq \mathbb{H}^n$  is a domain with boundary of class  $\mathbb{C}^2$ .

With the notation of Section 2.2, if  $\alpha \in E_0^h$ , with  $n < h \le 2n+1$ , we have

$$\alpha = \theta \wedge \alpha_H \quad \text{with} \quad \alpha_H \in \Omega_H^{h-1}.$$

Now, writing  $\alpha_H = (\alpha_H)_t + \nu_H \wedge (\alpha_H)_{\nu_H}$ , where we have set

$$(\alpha_H)_{\mathbf{t}} := \nu_H \, \lrcorner (\nu_H \wedge \alpha_H)$$
 and  $(\alpha_H)_{\nu_H} := \nu_H \, \lrcorner \, \alpha_H$ ,

we obtain the decomposition formula

$$\alpha = \theta \wedge (\alpha_H)_{t} + \theta \wedge \nu_H \wedge (\alpha_H)_{\nu_H}.$$

Thus if  $\alpha \in E_0^h$ , with  $n < h \le 2n + 1$ , we can set

$$\alpha_{\mathbf{t}} := \theta \wedge (\alpha_H)_{\mathbf{t}}$$
 and  $\alpha_{\nu_H} := -\theta \wedge (\alpha_H)_{\nu_H}$ 

and again we obtain the identity

$$\alpha = \alpha_{\rm t} + \nu_H \wedge \alpha_{\nu_H}.$$

Clearly, it turns out that  $\alpha_t \perp \nu_H \wedge \alpha_{\nu_H}$ .

The above definition is motivated by the following lemma.

**Lemma 8.13.** If  $\alpha \in E_0^h$ , with  $n < h \le 2n + 1$ , then

$$*\alpha_t = \nu_H \wedge (*\alpha)_{\nu_H}$$
 and  $*(\nu_H \wedge \alpha_{\nu_H}) = (*\alpha)_t$ .

*Proof.* By Lemma 2.2 we have

$$*\alpha_{\mathbf{t}} = *_{H}(\alpha_{H})_{\mathbf{t}} = \nu_{H} \wedge (*_{H}\alpha_{H})_{\nu_{H}} = \nu_{H} \wedge (*_{\Omega})_{\nu_{H}}.$$

On the other hand, we have

$$(\nu_{H} \wedge \alpha_{\nu_{H}}) = -*(\nu_{H} \wedge \theta \wedge (\alpha_{H})_{\nu_{H}})$$

$$= *(\theta \wedge \nu_{H} \wedge (\alpha_{H})_{\nu_{H}})$$

$$= *_{H}(\nu_{H} \wedge (\alpha_{H})_{\nu_{H}})$$

$$= (*_{H}\alpha_{H})_{t}$$

$$= (*_{\alpha})_{t}.$$

In particular, if  $\alpha \in \Omega_H^h$ ,  $1 \le h \le 2n$ , we can always write

$$\alpha_{\rm t} := \nu_H \, \bot (\nu_H \wedge \alpha), \qquad \alpha_{\nu_H} := \nu_H \, \bot \, \alpha,$$

and, as above, we have the decomposition formula

$$\alpha = \alpha_{\rm t} + \nu_H \wedge \alpha_{\nu_H} \qquad \forall \, \alpha \in E_0^h.$$

Remark 8.14. We stress that combining (6) and Lemma 8.13, we obtain a very useful result: If  $1 \le h \le 2n + 1$  and  $\alpha \in E_0^h$ , then

$$\alpha_{\rm t}=0$$
 if and only if  $(*\alpha)_{\nu_H}=0$  and  $\alpha_{\nu_H}=0$  if and only if  $(*\alpha)_{\rm t}=0$ .

**Definition 8.15.** From now on, we denote by  $E_0^*(\overline{\mathcal{U}})$  the space of smooth sections of  $E_0^*$  over  $\overline{\mathcal{U}}$ . With a slight abuse of notation, we also denote by  $E_0^*(\overline{\mathcal{U}}) \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{C}$  the corresponding space of complex forms  $\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{U}}, E_0^* \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{C})$ .

We conclude this section by stating a Green-type identity for the Rumin differential  $d_c$  (compare with formula (7)).

**Theorem 8.16** (Green identity in  $(E_0^*, d_c)$ ). Let  $\mathcal{U} \subsetneq \mathbb{H}^n$  be a domain with boundary of class  $\mathbb{C}^2$ . If  $\alpha \in E_0^{h-1}(\overline{\mathcal{U}}) \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{C}$  and  $\beta \in E_0^h(\overline{\mathcal{U}}) \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{C}$ , with  $h \neq n, n+1$ , then

$$\langle d_{c}\alpha, \beta \rangle_{L^{2}(\mathcal{U})} = \langle \alpha, \delta_{c}\beta \rangle_{L^{2}(\mathcal{U})} + \int_{\partial \mathcal{U}} \langle \mathbf{n} \wedge \alpha, \beta \rangle \ d\sigma$$
$$= \langle \alpha, \delta_{c}\beta \rangle_{L^{2}(\mathcal{U})} + \int_{\partial \mathcal{U}} \langle \nu_{H} \wedge \alpha, \beta \rangle \ d\sigma_{H}.$$

8.3. Gaffney-Friedrichs-type inequalities: technical preliminaries. Let  $\mathcal{U} \subsetneq \mathbb{H}^n$  be a domain with smooth boundary of class  $\mathbb{C}^2$ . Below, we generalize to  $E_0^*$  a classical definition which can be found in [38]; see, e.g., Definition 7.2.6, p. 291 (also compare with Definition 5.1).

**Definition 8.17.** Let  $u \in E_0^h(\overline{\mathcal{U}}) \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{C}$  be an intrinsic differential *h*-form, with  $0 \le h \le 2n+1$ ; we define the *CC-Dirichlet integral* by

$$D_c(u) := \int_{\mathcal{U}} \left( \langle d_c u, d_c u \rangle + \langle \delta_c u, \delta_c u \rangle \right) dV.$$

It is clear from the definition that all these quantities are positive real numbers. Moreover, we remind the reader that  $D_c(u) = D_c(*u)$ .

Finally, it is worth observing that our main results for the complex  $(E_0^*, d_c)$  (see, more precisely, Theorems 8.22, 8.24 and 8.25) only concern the case  $h \neq n, n+1$ .

**Proposition 8.18.** Let  $u \in E_0^h(\overline{\mathcal{U}}) \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{C}$ , with  $1 \leq h < n$ . Then

$$D_{c}(u) = D_{H}(u) - \frac{1}{n-h+1} \int_{\mathcal{U}} \left\langle \delta_{H}^{J} u, \delta_{H}^{J} u \right\rangle dV$$

$$\geq D_{H}(u) - \frac{1}{n-h+1} D_{H}(Ju) = D_{H}^{J}(u).$$
(49)

*Proof.* By using together Definition 8.17, identity (48) in Lemma 8.12 and Proposition 8.10, we get

$$\langle d_{c}u, d_{c}u \rangle + \langle \delta_{c}u, \delta_{c}u \rangle$$

$$= \langle d_{H}u, d_{H}u \rangle - \frac{1}{n - h + 1} \langle \delta_{H}^{J}u, \delta_{H}^{J}u \rangle + \langle \delta_{H}u, \delta_{H}u \rangle$$

$$= \langle d_{H}u, d_{H}u \rangle + \langle \delta_{H}u, \delta_{H}u \rangle - \frac{1}{n - h + 1} \langle \delta_{H}^{J}u, \delta_{H}^{J}u \rangle$$

$$= \langle d_{H}u, d_{H}u \rangle + \langle \delta_{H}u, \delta_{H}u \rangle - \frac{1}{n - h + 1} \langle J^{-1}\delta_{H}Ju, J^{-1}\delta_{H}Ju \rangle$$

$$= \langle d_{H}u, d_{H}u \rangle + \langle \delta_{H}u, \delta_{H}u \rangle - \frac{1}{n - h + 1} \langle \delta_{H}Ju, \delta_{H}Ju \rangle,$$

where we have used that  $J^2 = -\text{Id}$ . Now since

$$\int_{\mathcal{U}} \langle \delta_H J u, \delta_H J u \rangle \, dV \le D_H(J u),$$

the proof follows.

Moreover, by applying Proposition 5.11 to Ju and by keeping into account that the first two integrals in (24) remain unchanged if we replace u with Ju, we find the following proposition.

**Proposition 8.19.** Let  $u \in \Omega_H^h(\overline{\mathcal{U}}) \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{C}$  and assume that either  $(Ju)_t = 0$ or  $(Ju)_{\nu_H} = 0$  on  $\partial \mathcal{U} \setminus \text{char}(\partial \overline{\mathcal{U}})$ . Then

$$D_{H}(Ju) = \int_{\mathcal{U}} \|\nabla_{H}u\|^{2} dV - i \sum_{I,J} (p_{I} - q_{J}) \int_{\mathcal{U}} \bar{u}_{I,J} T u_{I,J} dV$$

$$- \int_{\partial \mathcal{U} \setminus \operatorname{char}(\partial \mathcal{U})} \left\langle \widetilde{R}_{J}(u), u \right\rangle d\sigma_{H},$$
(50)

where we have set  $\widetilde{R}_J(u) := J^{-1}\widetilde{R}(Ju)$ .

**Lemma 8.20.** Let  $u \in E_0^h(\overline{\mathcal{U}}) \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{C}$  be an intrinsic h-form, with  $1 \leq h \leq n$ . Then, at every point of  $\partial \mathcal{U} \setminus \text{char}(\partial \mathcal{U})$ , the following implications hold:

- (i)  $u_{\rm t} = 0 \Rightarrow (Ju)_{\nu_H} = 0;$ (ii)  $(Ju)_{\rm t} = 0 \Rightarrow u_{\nu_H} = 0.$

*Proof.* We just prove (i), since the proof of (ii) is similar. Let  $g: \mathbb{H}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ be a defining function for  $\mathcal{U}$  of class  $\mathbb{C}^2$ . We are assuming that:

- $\mathcal{U} = \{x \in \mathbb{H}^n : g(x) < 0\};$
- g(x) = 0 if and only if  $x \in \partial \mathcal{U}$ ;
- $\nabla g \neq 0$  for all  $x \in \partial \mathcal{U}$ ;

see, e.g., Ch.2 in [34]. Now observe that  $d_H g$  is parallel to  $\nu_H$  and that the hypothesis  $u_t = 0$  is equivalent to  $d_H(gu) = 0$  on  $\partial \mathcal{U}$ . Indeed, if  $u_t = 0$ , then  $u = \nu_H \wedge (\nu_H \perp u)$ . On the other hand

$$d_H(gu) = d_Hg \wedge u = d_Hg \wedge \nu_H \wedge (\nu_H \perp u) = 0.$$

Moreover, if  $d_H(gu) = 0$ , then  $d_H g \wedge u = 0$  and so  $\nu_H \wedge u = 0$ , which implies  $u_{\rm t} = \nu_H \, \bot (\nu_H \wedge u) = 0.$ 

On the other hand, by Lemma 8.11, if  $u_t = 0$ , then

$$0 = -\Lambda d_H(gu) = \delta_H^J(gu) = J^{-1}\delta_H J(gu),$$

which implies

$$\delta_H(gJu) = \delta_H J(gu) = 0.$$

From this we get  $\delta_H(gJu) = 0$  on  $\partial \mathcal{U}$  and since  $\delta_H(gJu) = -(d_Hg \perp Ju)$ , the proof of (i) follows.

Combining Propositions 8.18, 5.11, 8.19, Lemma 8.20, and formula (17) in Corollary 5.5, we obtain the next proposition.

**Proposition 8.21.** Let  $u \in E_0^h(\overline{\mathcal{U}}) \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{C}$ , with  $1 \leq h < n$ , and suppose that either  $u_t = 0$  or  $(Ju)_t = 0$  on  $\partial \mathcal{U} \setminus \text{char}(\partial \mathcal{U})$ . Then

$$D_{H}^{J}(u) = D_{H}(u) - \frac{1}{n-h+1}D_{H}(Ju)$$

$$= \frac{n-h}{n-h+1} \int_{\mathcal{U}} \left( \|\nabla_{H}u\|^{2} - i \sum_{I,J} (p_{I} - q_{J})\bar{u}_{I,J}Tu_{I,J} \right) dV$$

$$- \int_{\partial \mathcal{U}\backslash \operatorname{char}(\partial \mathcal{U})} \langle R(u), u \rangle d\sigma_{H}$$

$$= \frac{n-h}{n-h+1}D_{H}(u) - \frac{n-h}{n-h+1} \Re \mathbf{e} \mathbf{A}$$

$$- \int_{\partial \mathcal{U}\backslash \operatorname{char}(\partial \mathcal{U})} \langle R(u), u \rangle d\sigma_{H}$$

$$= \frac{n-h}{n-h+1}D_{H}(u) - \frac{1}{n-h+1} \Re \mathbf{e} \int_{\partial \mathcal{U}\backslash \operatorname{char}(\partial \mathcal{U})} \langle (\widetilde{R} - \widetilde{R}_{J})u, u \rangle d\sigma_{H},$$

where  $R(u) := \widetilde{R}(u) - \frac{1}{n-h+1}\widetilde{R}_J(u)$ .

8.4. Gaffney-Friedrichs-type inequalities: the main results. At this point, by using the estimates of the "error terms" proved in the preceding sections, Theorems 6.1 can be stated in  $(E_0^*, d_c)$  as follows.

**Theorem 8.22** (Gaffney-Friedrichs Inequality in  $(E_0^*)$  (1st version)). Let  $\mathcal{U} \subsetneq \mathbb{H}^n$  be a domain with boundary of class  $\mathbf{C}^2$ . Let  $u \in E_0^h(\overline{\mathcal{U}}) \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{C}$ , with  $1 \leq h < n$ , and assume that:

- (i) u satisfies either  $u_t = 0$  or  $Ju_t = 0$ ;
- (ii) u satisfies either condition  $(J\nu_H)$  (see Proposition 5.14) or condition  $(\widetilde{J}\nu_H)$  (see Proposition 5.17).

Let  $\{V_{\epsilon}\}_{\epsilon>0}$  be a family of open neighborhoods of char $(\partial \mathcal{U})$  (in the relative topology) shrinking around char $(\partial \mathcal{U})$  when  $\epsilon \to 0$ . In addition, assume that  $\sigma(V_{\epsilon}) \to 0$  as  $\epsilon \to 0$ . Then, there exist geometric constants  $C_0, C_1$  and  $C_2$  such that

(51) 
$$D_{c}(u) + C_{0} \int_{\partial \mathcal{U} \cap \mathcal{V}_{\epsilon}} \|u\|^{2} d\sigma$$
$$\geq C_{1} \int_{\mathcal{U}} \|\nabla_{H} u\|^{2} dV - C_{2} \int_{\mathcal{U}} \|u\|^{2} dV.$$

The constants  $C_0, C_1, C_2$  depend only on  $\mathcal{U}$ ,  $\epsilon$  and on the integers h and n. Furthermore, if  $u \in E_0^h(\overline{\mathcal{U}}) \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{C}$  with  $n+1 < h \leq 2n$ , then (51) still holds provided that \*u satisfies (i) and (ii).

Remark 8.23. Just as in Remark 6.2, the constant  $C_2$  may blow up as  $\epsilon$ tends to  $0^+$ .

**Theorem 8.24** (Gaffney-Friedrichs Inequality in  $(E_0^*, d_c)$  (2nd version)). Let  $\mathcal{U} \subseteq \mathbb{H}^n$  be a domain with boundary of class  $\mathbb{C}^2$  satisfying condition (H) (see Definition 3.4). Let  $u \in E_0^h(\overline{\mathcal{U}}) \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{C}$ , with  $1 \leq h < n$ , and assume that:

- (i) either  $u_t = 0$  or  $Ju_t = 0$ ;
- (ii) u satisfies condition  $(J\nu_H^*)$  (see Remark 5.15).

Then, there exist geometric constants  $\widetilde{C}_1$  and  $\widetilde{C}_2$ , depending only on  $\mathcal{U}$ and on the integers h and n, such that

(52) 
$$D_c(u) \ge \widetilde{C}_1 \int_{\mathcal{U}} \|\nabla_H u\|^2 dV - \widetilde{C}_2 \int_{\mathcal{U}} \|u\|^2 dV.$$

Furthermore, if  $u \in E_0^h(\overline{\mathcal{U}}) \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{C}$  with  $n+1 < h \leq 2n$ , then (52) still holds provided that \*u satisfies (i) and (ii).

**Theorem 8.25** (Gaffney-Friedrichs Inequality in  $(E_0^*, d_c)$  (3rd version)). Let  $\mathcal{U} \subseteq \mathbb{H}^n$  be a domain with boundary of class  $\mathbb{C}^2$  satisfying condition (H) (see Definition 3.4). Let  $u \in E_0^h(\overline{\mathcal{U}}) \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{C}$  with  $1 \leq h < n$ , and assume that

- (i)  $Ju_t = 0$ ,
- (ii) u satisfies the condition (44),

- (j)  $u_t = 0$ ,
- (jj) u satisfies the condition (45).

Then, there exist geometric constants  $\widetilde{C_1}$  and  $\widetilde{C_2}$ , depending only on  $\mathcal U$ and on the integers h and n, such that

(53) 
$$D_c(u) \ge \widetilde{C}_1 \int_{\mathcal{U}} \|\nabla_H u\|^2 dV - \widetilde{C}_2 \int_{\mathcal{U}} \|u\|^2 dV.$$

Furthermore, if  $u \in E_0^h(\overline{\mathcal{U}}) \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{C}$  with  $n+1 < h \leq 2n$ , then (53) still holds provided that \*u satisfies either (i) and (ii), or (j) and (jj).

## References

- [1] R. ABRAHAM, J.E. MARSDEN, T. RATIU, "Manifolds, tensor analysis, and applications", Applied
- mathematical sciences (Springer-Verlag New York Inc.), v. 75, Springer-Verlag (1988).

  Z.BALOGH, Size of characteristic sets and functions with prescribed gradient, J. Reine Angew. Math. 564, pp. 63-83, (2003).
- [3] Z.M. BALOGH, C. PINTEA, H. ROHNER, Size of tangencies to non-involutive distributions, Indiana Univ. Math. J. 60, No. 6, 2061-2092 (2011).
- [4] H. BAHOURI, J.Y. CHEMIN, C.J. XU, Trace theorem on the Heisenberg group on homogeneous hypersurfaces, Chapter in Phase Space Analysis of Partial Differential Equations, Vol. 69, Progress in
- A. BONFIGLIOLI, E. LANCONELLI, F. UGUZZONI, "Stratified Lie groups and potential theory for their sub-Laplacians", Springer Monographs in Mathematics. New York, NY: Springer. xxvi, 800 pp.
- A. BALDI, B. FRANCHI, N. TCHOU, M.C. TESI, Compensated compactness for differential forms in Carnot groups and applications, Adv. Math. 223, No. 5, 1555-1607 (2010).

  A. Baldi, B. Franchi, Sharp a priori estimates for div-curl systems in Heisenberg groups, J.
- Funct. Anal. 265, No. 10, 2388-2419 (2013).
- , Differential forms in Carnot groups: a  $\Gamma$ -convergence approach, Calc. Var. Partial Differ. Equ. 43, No. 1-2, 211-229 (2012).
- ———, Maxwell's equations in anisotropic media and Carnot groups as variational limits, Adv. Nonlinear Stud. 15, 325–354 (2015) 325–354.

- [11] A. Baldi, B. Franchi, M.C. Tesi. Hypoellipticity, fundamental solution and Liouville type theorem for matrix-valued differential operators in Carnot groups, J. Eur. Math. Soc. 11 (2009),
- [12] A. Bove, B. Franchi, On the notion of differential forms in sub-Riemannian manifolds and pull-back invariance, preprint (2015).
- [13] L. CAPOGNA, D. DANIELLI, N. GAROFALO, The geometric Sobolev embedding for vector fields and
- the isoperimetric inequality, Commun. Anal. Geom. 2, No.2, 203-215 (1994).

  [14] L. CAPOGNA, N. GAROFALO, D.M. NHIEU, Examples of uniform and NTA do-mains in Carnot groups, Proceedings on Analysis and Geometry (Novosibirsk Akademgorodok, 1999), Izdat. Ross. Akad. Nauk Sib. Otd. Inst. Mat., Novosibirsk, 103121 (2000).
- [15] G. CSATÓ, B. DACOROGNA, O. KNEUSS, "The pullback equation for differential forms", Progress in Nonlinear Differential Equations and Their Applications 83. Basel: Birkhuser. xi, 436 pp. (2012).
- [16] D. Danielli, N. Garofalo, D.M. Nhieu, Non-doubling Ahlfors measures, perimeter measures, and the characterization of the trace spaces of Sobolev functions in Carnot-Carathéodory spaces. Mem. Amer. Math. Soc.182 2006.
- [17] D. DANIELLI, N. GAROFALO, D.M. NHIEU, Sub-Riemannian Calculus on Hypersurfaces in Carnot groups, Adv. Math. 215, no. 1, 292-378 (2007).
- M.Derridj, Sur un théorème de trace, Ann. Inst. Fourier (Grenoble) 22, (1972), 72-83.
- B. Franchi, R. Serapioni, Intrinsic Lipschitz Graphs Within Carnot Groups, J. Geom. Anal. **26** (2016), 1946-1994
- [20] B. Franchi, R. Serapioni, F.S. Cassano, Meyers-Serrin type theorems and relaxation of variational integrals depending on vector fields, Houston J. Math. 22, No.4, 859-890 (1996).
  [21] \_\_\_\_\_\_, Rectifiability and Perimeter in the Heisenberg Group, Math. Ann., 321, 479-531 (2001).
- On the structure of finite perimeter sets in step 2 Carnot groups, J. Geom. Anal., 13, [22]no. 3, 421-466 (2003).
- [23] Intrinsic Lipschitz graphs in Heisenberg groups, Jour. of Nonlinear and Convex Analysis, v. 7, n. 3 (2006), pp. 423-441.
- -. Regular submanifolds, graphs and area formula in Heisenberg groups, Adv. Math. 211. [24] no. 1, 152-203 (2007).
- , Differentiability of intrinsic Lipschitz functions within Heisenberg groups, Journal of Geometric Analysis, v. 21, n. 4 (2011), pp. 1044-1084.
- [26] B. Franchi, M.C. Tesi, Wave and Maxwell's equations in Carnot groups, Commun. Cont. Math. 14 (5) (2012), 62 pp.
- [27] B.Franchi & R.L.Wheeden, Compensation couples and isoperimetric estimates for vector fields, Coll. Math. 74, (1997), 1-27.
- K. O. FRIEDRICHS, Differential forms on Riemannian manifolds, Comm. Pure Appl. Math., 8 (1955), 551-590.
- [29] M.P. Gaffney, The Harmonic Operator for Exterior Differential Forms, Proc. Nat. Acad. of Sci. U.S.A., 37 (1951).
- [30] N. Garofalo, D.M. Nhieu, Isoperimetric and Sobolev inequalities for Carnot-Carathéodory spaces and the existence of minimal surfaces, Comm. Pure Appl. Math., 49, 1081-1144 (1996).
- [31] M. Gromov, Carnot-Carathéodory spaces seen from within, in "Subriemannian Geometry" Progress in Mathematics, 144. ed. by A. Bellaiche and J. Risler, Birkhauser Verlag, Basel (1996).
- S. HELGASON, "Differential geometry, Lie groups, and symmetric spaces", Academic Press, New York, 1978.
- [33] D. Huybrechts, "Complex Geometry. An Introduction", (Universitext)-Springer (2005).
- [34] S.G. Krantz, H.R. Parks, "The Geometry of Domains in Space", Birkhuser Advanced Texts Basler Lehrbcher, Birkhuser Boston (1999).
- J.M. Lee, "Introduction to Smooth Manifolds", Springer Verlag (2003).
- M. MITREA, Dirichlet integrals and Gaffney-Friedrichs inequalities in convex domain, Forum Math., Vol.13 (2001), pp. 531-567.
- [37] R. MONTI, D. MORBIDELLI, Regular domains in homogeneous groups, Transactions of the American Mathematical Society 357 (8), pp. 2975-3011 (2005).
  C.B. Morrey, "Multiple integrals in the calculus of variations", Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1966.
- R.M. RANGE, "Holomorphic Functions and Integral Representations in Several Complex Vari-[39] ables", Graduate Texts in Mathematics 108 -Springer New York (1986).
- [40] M. Rumin, Formes différentielles sur les variétés de contact, J. Differ. Geom. 39, No.2, 281-330 (1994).
- [41] Sub-Riemannian limit of the differential form spectrum of contact manifolds, Geom. Funct. Anal. 10, No.2, 407-452 (2000).
- Around heat decay on forms and relations of nilpotent Lie groups, Séminaire de Théorie Spectrale et Géométrie, vol. 19, pp. 123-164. Univ. Grenoble I, Saint-Martin d'Hères (2001).
- An introduction to spectral and differential geometry in Carnot-Carathéorody spaces, Rend. Circ. Mat. Palermo, Serie II, Suppl. Vol. 75 (2005), 139-196.
- E.M. Stein, "Harmonic Analysis", Princeton University Press (1993).
- [45] G. Schwarz, "Hodge decomposition-A method for solving boundary value problems", Lecture Notes in Math. 1607, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1995.
- [46] L.S. TSENG, S.T. YAU, Cohomology and Hodge Theory on Symplectic Manifolds: I, J. Diff. Geom. 91 (2012) 383-416.
- [47] Cohomology and Hodge Theory on Symplectic Manifolds: II, J. Diff. Geom. 91 (2012) 417-444.
- [48] L.S. TSENG, L. WANG, Hodge Theory on Compact Symplectic Manifolds with boundary, preprint (2014).
- [49] A.A. Weil, "Introduction a l'étude des variétés kählériennes", Hermann, Paris (1958),

Bruno Franchi:

Dipartimento di Matematica

Università degli Studi di Bologna,

Piazza di Porta S.Donato 5, Bologna (Italy)

 $E\text{-}mail\ address:\ \mathbf{bruno.franchi@unibo.it}$ 

 ${\bf Francescopaolo\ Montefalcone:}$ 

Dipartimento di Matematica

Università degli Studi di Padova,

Via Trieste, 63, 35121 Padova (Italy)

 $\hbox{$E$-mail address:} \ {\tt montefal@math.unipd.it}$ 

Elena Serra:

Dipartimento di Matematica

Università degli Studi di Bologna,

Piazza di Porta S.Donato 5, Bologna (Italy)

 $E ext{-}mail\ address: elena.serra19@gmail.com}$